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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

RESULTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2018, the Group’s revenue
increased by 6% to approximately HK$1,533 million. A loss of
HK$54 million was recorded by the Group, which was notably
higher than the loss of HK$9 million incurred in the previous

year.

The lower than expected growth in revenue was due to intense
competition in the printing and packaging industry as well as
the Group’s strategic move to reduce exposure to the sectors

with unfavourable pricing.

The Group’s profit margin was adversely affected by the
drastically rising price of paper and the higher labour costs in
the PRC. An increase in outsourcing costs incurred by the
Group’s Shaoguan plant to meet customers’ delivery schedules,
together with the slower than expected recovery of the Suzhou

plant, brought further pressure on the Group’s profitability.

Notwithstanding the unsatisfactory results, the Group made
progress during the year in expanding Team Green, the Group’s
eco-friendly design products brand operating the original design
manufacturing (ODM) and original brand manufacturing (OBM)
businesses. This innovation driven subsidiary is seeking to
further develop the education sector in Hong Kong and the PRC
while introducing new features and technology to its products.

On the operational side, the Group’s subsidiary Qianhai
Larsemann Intelligence System (Shenzhen) Limited is actively
developing automated equipment to facilitate the Group in
improving its productivity and reducing its reliance on labour.
By transforming itself to embrace Industry 4.0 (the fourth
industrial revolution), embedding intelligent automation and
data exchanges in its operations, the Group is striving for higher
cost competitiveness and market adaptability to gain long term
sustainable performance. In the meantime, the Group is
exploring means to consolidate its PRC plants to increase their
overall operational efficiency. Details of these measures are

described in the “Business Review and Prospects” section.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

DIVIDENDS
In order to retain resources for the Group’s future development,
the Directors do not recommend a final dividend for the year
ended 31st March, 2018 (2017: Nil).
paid for the six months ended 30th September,

No interim dividend was
2017 (30th
September, 2016: HK1 cent per share).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Hong Kong/Mainland China Operations

Overview

During the year under review, competition in the printing and
packaging industry further intensified. Many competitors
aggressively reduced their price to gain market share. The
situation was aggravated as customers adopted a more rigid
stance on the pricing of orders due to prevailing uncertainties

in major markets.

Under the circumstances, the Group had to absorb most of the
additional costs in production with little room to pass such
costs on to customers. The most notable increase was seen in
paper, a major component in the Group’s production, whose
price soared drastically by double digits during the year.
Moreover, the minimum wages at the Group’s Shenzhen,
Guangzhou and Suzhou plants rose by single digit with effect

from June 2017, April 2017 and July 2017, respectively.

The
manufacturing plants aggravated the Group’s profitability. Late

slackened performance of some of the Group’s

deliveries and backlog of orders were seen in the Shaoguan
plant, which resulted in higher outsourcing costs and airfreight
charges being incurred to meet delivery schedules. The recovery
pace of the Suzhou plant was slower than expected and
stockpiling of orders and relatively higher labour costs affected
the profit margins.

On the sales front, the Group revised its sales strategy by
reducing exposure to the industries with unfavourable pricing
This had a

temporary pull back effect on the Group’s revenue growth, but

while expanding sales to high growth sectors.

the management believes the strategy is beneficial to the

Group’s long-term development.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

During the year, children’s books and greeting cards recorded
an increase in sales. More orders were secured from the
technology sector while sales to the toys industry declined.
Traditional packaging saw a decrease in orders due to unhealthy

competition.

Team Green, the Group’s eco-friendly design products brand,
has teamed up with Insight Editions, an international company
known for lavishly illustrated books on arts, entertainment and
history to launch new products. Named IncrediBuilds, the newly
launched 3D wooden puzzle collection comprises do-it-yourself,
customizable, freestanding models. Team Green is also

integrating new features and new technology into its products.

Qianhai Larsemann Intelligence System (Shenzhen) Limited, the
subsidiary specializing in intelligent automation, has developed
more than 100 smart machines primarily for the Group’s
internal use with the potential of selling them to third parties.
The management is hopeful that the use of intelligent
automation would help enhance the operational efficiency of
the Group’s manufacturing plants and reduce their reliance on

labour.

Adopting a long term view, the management believes the Group
is on the right track to generate sustainable growth in sales and
profit. Solid action is being taken to enhance the Group’s
customer mix as well as manufacturing model as the Group
steps up to embrace Industry 4.0. As part of this endeavour, the
Group is exploring means to consolidate its PRC plants to
increase their overall operational efficiency. The Group is also
tightening the management control of the Shaoguan plant and

Suzhou operation to improve their performance.

Southern China Operation

The Group’s southern China operation recorded a loss for the
year ended 31st March, 2018. The higher price of paper and
higher wages could not be fully recovered from customers.
Moreover, the Shaoguan plant experienced a slackening of
operational efficiency which resulted in higher outsourcing costs

and airfreight charges being incurred.

EFE®E

fREEAENERHE LA HRERFTE
BHEE GARHETR -ZHNTRBFYE.
Ax = S

EEAFFANDRRE B @ Hi‘FiTeam Green - £
Insight Editions (— 2% LA i ki B 1l7 - 4R 24 70/ & Bl iR
e fﬁ@%m.j”VWAﬁ i
IncrediBuilds#) 7 B8 R Bf[E - ATt B1THA R LB -
A A VEYE S 1B ER c Team  Green[d B 32 #7170 X AT &}
REAERT -

SENBRARASNTEEEREGCRY)ER QA
EERNEREEYLRE BERE—BZa84
ez BRIERHKEARNBNER AHEHINEE
MATE - EEERERABEEADANEEE
TEBEFEERRRRDE LB NOEE -

FRRME EREMEGEE LS MERAIFENHE
EMAMNER -EEKNE ”éﬂ M BEERPES
FREERX B HERIELI0 B Klﬁﬁﬁﬁ
ETRHMBOHESAR BORAZLBEENS -
EEINEMBE BERME MR EREEE - A
EHRIE -

EFEH

BE-Z- N\F=ZA=+-RLFE SEEFX
BHESERE - KENTERE LR BEAFHER
TEP W BEAMEERE TR HEER &
BREE INEENMTEEMELM-

11



Suzhou ﬁd'ﬂl
o/ mm——
= Shanghai -3

e
Malayf@dﬁ_%@?ﬁj
Singapore HTAMH
Melbourne Z2FE7>

EHEELTA BUEE E#HARRER Em&BIES
¥ Hong Kong Headquarters ¥ Manufacturing Plant ¥ Sales Representative Cffice ¥ Engineering Workshop

[ER P 52 8

International/Accreditation

5 CERTIFIC, -
55 lag,
o
& 7\%‘% 4 "*(Glcsgo 1264?"’ -
— Ukl certified
&3 NV:G %
o iEf e

7'\

S

CERT. NO.:B2-2-0101
CERT. NO.2BAS ESI1E0 9002:1384

ICTI - Sedex - EICC = FSC-COC * 1SO14001 - ISO9001 - BRC * Fogra PSO - G7 * GMI - GSV - QS certificate * Disney certificate




CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Team Green, the Group’s eco-friendly design products brand,
expanded its product range during the year, both on its own as
well as through collaborations with brands of hit movie icons to
create product series. Its product lines cover 3D paper puzzles
and 3D wooden puzzles, including the latest IncrediBuilds
collection. The team is seeking to further develop the education
sector in Hong Kong and the PRC while introducing new
features and new technology to its products. It received the
Corporate Group Merit Award of Hong Kong Smart Design
Award 2017 from The Hong Kong Exporter’s Association, and
attended the Hong Kong Gifts & Premium Fair held by the
Trade Development Council in late April 2018.

Qianhai Larsemann Intelligence System (Shenzhen) Limited, the
Group’s subsidiary spearheading the intelligent automation
business, continued to work with scientific research institutions
and universities in Mainland China and overseas, on areas
ranging from semi-automation to full automation, paving the
way for the Group’s business development of intelligent

automation machines catering for the consumer market.

Moving forward, the southern China operation will take
measures to increase its operational efficiency, including the
further implementation of Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP)
and Manufacturing Execution Systems (MES) to integrate the
manufacturing, purchasing, sales, and accounting functions. It
will continue to expand its clientele and reduce exposure to the

unfavourable pricing sectors.

Eastern China Operation

The eastern China operation recorded a higher loss during the
year under review. Its turnaround pace was slower than
expected as the strengthening actions taken by the new
management team took more time to show results. The
incurrence of foreign exchange loss due to sudden exchange
fluctuation of Renminbi against US dollars and the extra costs
in reworking particular orders at sales destination due to quality

issues put additional pressure on the operation’s profit margins.

The printing and packaging business saw an increase in
revenue. However, sales of specialty printing significantly
dropped due to intense market competition, while orders for
greeting cards levelled. Growth in domestic business was

recorded as international brands improved their sales to China.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Looking forward, cost efficiency remain a major challenge
confronting the eastern China operation. The eastern China
operation aims to enlarge its clientele in growth sectors,
targeting multinational customers and established Chinese
enterprises, while strengthening its production and management

to resume profit.

Southeast Asia Operation

The southeast Asia operation recorded a decline in profit during
the year under review. With strong competition in the printing
and packaging industry across the region, and the rising price
of paper, the profit margin of the southeast Asia operation was
affected.

The southeast Asia operation is utilizing the Group's intelligent
automation technology to increase its competitive advantages. It
seeks to increase penetration in markets such as Australia, New
Zealand and ASEAN countries, while actively exploring the
feasibility of developing the ODM and OBM businesses.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s sources of funding include cash generated from the
Group’s operations and banking facilities provided to the Group
by banks mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China. As at 31st
March, 2018, the Group’s cash and bank balances and
short-term bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$329

million.

During the year under review, the interest expense of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$8 million compared to

approximately HK$8 million recorded last year.

As at 371st March, 2018, the Group had a working capital
surplus of approximately HK$244 million compared to a
working capital surplus of approximately HK$243 million as at
31st March, 2017. The Group was in net cash position as at
31st March, 2018 and 31st March, 2017. The Group’s gearing
ratio as at 31st March, 2018 was 47% (2017: 34%), based on
short-term and long-term bank borrowings, bill payables and
shareholders” funds of approximately HK$533 million (2017:
HK$544 million).
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31st March, 2018, certain assets of the Group with an
aggregate book carrying value of approximately HK$10 million
(31st March, 2017: HK$11 million) were pledged to secure the
banking facilities of the Group.

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

All the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
US dollars, Chinese

Renminbi, Malaysian ringgit, Singapore dollars or Euro. The

denominated in Hong Kong dollars,

exchange rate of US dollars/Hong Kong dollars is relatively
stable due to the current peg system in Hong Kong. The
Renminbi-denominated sales revenue helps to set off the
Group’s commitments of Renminbi-denominated operating
expenses in Mainland China, accordingly reducing Renminbi
exchange rate exposure. Transaction values involving Euro were

primarily related to the Group’s purchase of machinery.

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
Currently the Group has approximately 5,000 employees. The

Group maintains good relationships with its employees,
providing them with competitive packages, incentive schemes
as well as various training programmes. The Group has
maintained a Share Option Scheme under which share options
can be granted to certain employees (including executive
directors and non-executive director of the Company (excluding
independent non-executive directors)) as incentive for their
contribution to the Group. The Group provides various training
and development programmes to staff on an ongoing basis. The
Group will explore the possibility of launching other special
training programmes with universities in Mainland China and

education institutions abroad to enhance its staff quality.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
promoting social enhancement whilst developing its businesses,
through active participation in social welfare and environmental
protection activities to realize its mission. Regardless of where
the Group operates, the Group treats the local communities as

family members and strives to contribute to such communities.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

In the past years, the Group has allocated significant resources
to energy conservation and environmental protection, provided
venues and platforms of training and job opportunities for
young people, and actively supported help-poor and schooling
campaigns as well as disaster relief efforts in China. Apart from
providing financial support, the Group also contributes people
and time to various charity drives. In many circumstances, the
Group’s Chairman makes initiative to organize joint efforts with
other enterprises and friends to pool resources together for the

maximum benefits of those in need.

During the year under review, the Group and its staff made

financial and other support to the following organizations:
—  Support to The 29th World Hakka Conference

— Donation to Jingyang County Student Financial Aid

Management Centre
— Donation to Polar Museum Foundation
— Donation to Dance Drama Hong Kong
— Support to Scout Association of Hong Kong

—  The Hong Kong Seagulls Scholarship Scheme

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
(“ESG”) REPORT

During the year, the Group has established an environmental,
social and governance (“ESG”) management team to manage,
monitor, recommend and report on environmental and social
aspects. An ESG report is being prepared with reference to
Appendix 27 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and will
be published on the Company’s websites (http://www.hkstarlite.
com) within three months after the publication of this annual

report.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

LOOKING AHEAD

The threat of a trade war has clouded the global economy.
According to the latest World Trade Outlook Indicator (WTOI)
released by the World Trade Organization (WTO) in May 2018,
while global trade expansion is likely to continue this year, the
softening of the indicator from 102.3 in February to 101.8 in
May suggested that the pace of growth is slowing in the second
quarter compared to the first quarter. “The recent dip in the
WTOI reflects declines in component indices for export orders
in particular, which may be linked to rising economic
uncertainty due to increased trade tensions.” The latest results
are broadly in line with the WTO'’s trade forecast issued in
April 2018, which predicted a moderation of merchandise trade
volume growth from 4.7% in 2017 to 4.4% in 2018.

Given the threat of protectionism and the volatility in consumer
confidence, the management expects the pricing of orders to
remain under pressure, driven by customers’ rigid stance as well
as the more intense competition in the printing and packaging
industry. The Group is actively developing Team Green and
Larsemann Intelligence System to improve its business model
and to embrace Industry 4.0, while exploring means to
consolidate its PRC plants to increase their overall operational
efficiency. The management remains positive about the Group’s

prospects in spite of the current setback in its performance.
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On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank our shareholders,
customers, bankers, suppliers and friends in the community for
their continued support and all our staff for their loyalty and

dedication.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27th June, 2018
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

Recently, | attended the inaugural ceremony of “An Innovative
Workshop on the Rejuvenation of Traditional Craftsmanship”
organized by the Academy of Arts & Design, Tsinghua
University. Appointed by the organizer as a corporate instructor
on intangible cultural heritage items, | am triggered by the
Workshop to come up with some reflections about the
development of the manufacturing industry.

China’s intangible cultural heritage is the wisdom of the
Chinese civilization crystallized from thousands of years of
practice. It is a manifestation of the spirit of Chinese craftsmen.
The preservation of intangible cultural heritage is China’s
foundation of cultural renaissance as well as an important
source of her cultural innovation. Yet, such inheritance is now
facing predicament. From my personal observation, there are a
couple of reasons. First, such craft is not difficult to learn but
hard to master, and the single-route approach of inheritance is
far from ideal. The second is the inability in meeting users’
needs, and the third is the missing of artisan spirit. Of course,
the more overwhelming reason is the overall trend. Scientific
and technological development is an irreversible part of human
progress. For example, electronic calculator is superior than
abacus in terms of speed, efficiency, and accuracy.

This predicament facing intangible cultural heritage triggered
my thoughts about the manufacturing industry in which | have
worked for nearly six decades. Many in the industry would
share my feelings. Having contributed with toil and sweat to
the “China factory”, the manufacturing industry after 40 years of
rapid growth is in the paradox of supply exceeding demand. In
particular, the industry has no end products nor brands of its
own, relying all on the others and operating in low profit or
even no profit. This is the reality of China’s manufacturing
industry and a microcosm of Starlite’s development.

Confronting the throes of China’s industrial transformation,
Starlite has not yielded to frustration. Rather, we take courage
to explore with a dedicated effort and one heart. Being at the
bottom of the value chain, Starlite needs to change its growth
model and search for the next development opportunity. As
such, we have struggled to move to the other end of the “smile
curve”, embracing design, innovation and brand management,
while moving to marketing, retail and wholesale at the other
end. After six years of hard work, we finally see light for our
upgrading and transformation.

Under the leadership of the management and the direction of
Dr. Alex Lee, we have successfully made debut in the Japanese
market and marched forward. Our 3D wooden puzzle is
renowned for its creativity and environmentally friendliness,
drawing on the construction techniques of oriental wood
structure. It has attracted the Prime Minister of Japan, the
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

Eastern economic power, to use it as a souvenir for the United
States, the Western economic leader. This marked a major event
in Hong Kong’s design industry in recent years.

With the price of paper rising drastically by 30% to 60%, our
printing and packaging operations suffered consecutive losses.
On the other hand, our brand wooden products have shown
great charisma, making a solid performance in the global
market and building a strong following among consumers.

Of course, such transformation is like the pupa changing to
butterfly process. The group has to bear the throes before
reaping the harvest. At a critical time when funding is tight, the
continuous investment and the persistent drive has represented
a strategic resolve testing the will of Starlite people, and it once
again proved that where there is a will there is a way. | firmly
believe that with the globalization of our brand and our
association with movie icons, pleasing rewards are around the
corner and our employment of designer creativity is an apt
move as we hit the bottom.

We are now working with university enterprises, moving step
by step towards the intelligent automation of production, testing
and packaging of wooden products. We are creating an open
design platform, led by the company’s designers with active
participation of global designers, design lovers and amateur
designers to build an online community of common interests, as
well as creating a franchising system for manufacturers. We are
seeking a breakthrough in business and creating an
unprecedented innovative model for the manufacturing industry.

Similar to the inheritance of intangible cultural heritage, Starlite
is also practicing the continuation and development of the
manufacturing spirit. | think both of them need to adhere to the
following: First, the insistence on the combination of traditional
essence and customer needs. Second, the resolve of never
shifting away from the artisan spirit. Last but not least, the
emphasis on cooperation and win-win.

The above is a cognition of my thinking and practice in recent
years. | take this opportunity to share it with you and look
forward to your comment. At the same time, | express my
sincere gratitude to colleagues, shareholders, banks, customers
and suppliers for giving me the time and space.

Lam Kwong Yu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27th June, 2018
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

Revenue WA
Operating (loss)/profit e (B8R, ORA
(Loss)/profit for the year FRARXQRBEE A

attributable to the owners  JE{h (E518) /i 7
of the Company

Dividends iz &

Basic (losses)/earnings per ViN/NETE: ¥ =N X
share attributable to the FREN(ER),/
owners of the Company 2R GEAL)

MBERHE

mEWER

Year ended 31st March
BE=A=1+—-HLEE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E-N\F ZZE—tF ZE—RF ZT—RHF ZT—WmUF
HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET FHET FET FET
1,533,094 1,445,870 1,620,364 1,591,655 1,456,556
(42,279) 20,622 101,878 19,391 36,875
(54,436) (9,184) 68,112 2,651 15,057

— 5,251 13,128 5,251 13,128

(10.37) (1.75) 12.97 0.50 2.87

(HK cents)




FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION

Non-current assets

Current assets

Current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Total equity

ERBEE

RBEE

nEAE

MBEEFR

BEERLBAMR

FRBEE

MBRE

e BN &R
As at 31st As at 31st As at 31st As at 31st As at 31st
March, 2018 March, 2017 March, 2016 March, 2015 March, 2014
RZB-NFE R-F—tF RZE-RF RZE-RF R-ZT-NOF
=A=+-AB =A=+—-H =ZA=+—-HBH =ZA=+—H =ZA=+-—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT F#T FET FBT F#T
407,467 380,787 406,922 450,882 489,512
749,638 657,727 684,396 602,975 608,195
(505,516) (414,647) (462,755) (444,429) (450,948)
244,122 243,080 221,641 158,546 157,247
651,589 623,867 628,563 609,428 646,759
(118,781) (79,970) (38,730) (72,485) (87,997)
532,808 543,897 589,833 536,943 558,762
532,808 543,897 589,833 536,943 558,762
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors have the pleasure of presenting their annual
report together with the audited financial statements of Starlite
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31st March, 2018.

Principal activities
The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials,

labels and paper products, including

environmental friendly paper products.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment results are set out

in Note 5 to the accompanying financial statements.

Business review

A review of the business of the Group during the year as
required by Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622) are covered in different sections of this annual report
as set out below, which shall form part of this Report of the

Directors.

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
indication of likely future development since the Group’s
business, can be found in the Chairman’s Statement and

Chairman’s Letter set out on pages 7 to 19.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group has established procedures in place to ensure that
its operations comply with applicable laws, rules and
regulations. A senior management committee of the Company is
delegated by the Board to monitor the Group’s policies and
practices for achieving compliance with legal and other
regulatory requirements, and such policies and practices are
regularly reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant

employees and relevant operating units whenever necessary.

As far as the Company is aware, the Group has complied in all
material respects with laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the Group’s business and operations.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Major customers and suppliers

For the year ended 31st March, 2018, the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 35% of the Group’s total revenue
and the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 21%
of the Group’s total purchases. In addition, the largest customer
accounted for approximately 14% of the Group’s revenue while
the largest supplier accounted for approximately 6% of the

Group’s total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates, or any shareholder
(which, to the knowledge of the Company’s Directors, owned
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial

interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

Relationship with stakeholders

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with
its employees, providing quality services to its customers and

enhancing co-operation with its business partners.

Results and appropriations
Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31st March,
2018 are set out in the consolidated income statement on page

60 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2018, and recommend
that the Group’s retained earnings of approximately
HK$265,859,000 be carried forward.

Share capital and employee share options
Details of movements in share capital and the employee share
option scheme of the Company are set out in Notes 24 and 25,

respectively, to the accompanying financial statements.

Reserves
Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in Notes 26 and 32(b) to the accompanying

financial statements.

As at 31st March, 2018, the Company’s retained earnings of
approximately HK$21,207,000 was available for distribution to

the Company’s shareholders.
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Purchase, sale or redemption of shares

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the year
ended 31st March, 2018.

Pre-emptive rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the

Company’s Bye-laws and the laws in Bermuda.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 16 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during
the year are set out in Note 15 to the accompanying financial

statements.

Bank borrowings
Particulars of bank borrowings as at 31st March, 2018 are set
out in Notes 21 and 29 to the accompanying financial

statements.

Pension scheme
Details of the pension scheme are set out in Note 9 to the

accompanying financial statement.

Charitable contributions
During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of
approximately HK$832,000 (2017: HK$825,000).

Directors and directors’ service contracts
The directors who held office during the year and up to the

date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman)

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus (Senior Vice President)

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles (Senior Vice President)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chui

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sss, /P

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, not less than
one-third of the directors will be retire from office by rotation
at the annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus,
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael and Mr. Cheung Chi Shing,
Charles will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting

and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the directors has an unexpired contract with the Group
which is not terminable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Changes in information of directors
The change in the information of directors of the Company,
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of

the Listing Rules, is as follows:

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sBs, jp, an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of AAC Technologies

Holdings Inc. with effect from 1st February, 2018.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required

to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Independent Non-Executive Directors’ confirmation of
independence

The Company has received independence confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, s8s, jp
and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny pursuant to rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules, and considers them to be independent.
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Directors’ interests in shares and share options

As at 31st March, 2018, the interest of the Directors and Chief
Executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any specified undertaking of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Section 352 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as

follows:

Long positions in Shares

Name of Director Capacity

BEng L

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Beneficial owner

whmEE ¢t )

Ms. Yeung Chui Beneficial owner and interest of controlled

BRELL corporation
BRBEARRENAR 2 RS

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus Interest of spouse

WHELLE RBEs

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles Beneficial owner

REKRELE HHlE

Note:

1. Dayspring Enterprises Limited held 1,012,901 shares in the Company. The

entire issued share capital of the company is beneficially owned and
controlled by Ms. Yeung Chui.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Chief
Executive of the Company had, as at 31st March, 2018, any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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Share option scheme

A new share option scheme has been adopted by the Company
since 15th August, 2012 (the “New Share Option Scheme”) to
replace a share option scheme which had been adopted on 6th
September, 2002 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) to comply
with the current statutory requirements. The Company may
grant options to the participants as set out in the New Share

Option Scheme.
Summary of the New Share Option Scheme was as follows:

1. Purpose of the New Share Option Scheme
To provide participants with the opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the

Company and its shares.

2. Participants of the New Share Option Scheme
(i) Any full-time employee of the Company or of any

subsidiary; and

(ii) Any executive director and non-executive director
(excluding independent non-executive directors) of

the Company or of any subsidiary.

3. Total number of shares available for issue under the
New Share Option Scheme and percentage of issued
share capital as at the date of the annual report
The Company may initially grant options representing
52,513,528 shares under the New Share Option Scheme
(i.e. approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of the approval of the New Share
Option Scheme).

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the New Share Option Scheme and
any other schemes adopted by the Company must not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. No
options may be granted under the New Share Option
Scheme or any other share option scheme if that will

result in the 30% limit being exceeded.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant under the New
Share Option Scheme

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each
participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the New Share Option Scheme or any
other share option scheme adopted by the Company in
any 12 month period must not exceed 1% of the shares

in issue.

The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option
Must not be more than 10 years from the date of offer or

grant of the option.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

An option may be exercised at any time during a period
commencing on the expiry of 6 calendar months after the
date of grant of the option, but in any event not later

than 10 years from the date of grant.

The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made or loans for such purposes must
be paid

The amount payable on acceptance of an option is
HK$10 and an offer shall remain open for acceptance by
the participant for a period of 28 days from the date on
which the letter containing the offer is delivered to that

participant.

The basis of determining the exercise price
The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in

its absolute discretion and shall be at least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business

day; or

(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the 5 business days immediately

preceding the date of grant; or

(iii)  the nominal value of the shares on the date of grant.
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9. The remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme
The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
adoption date i.e. 15th August, 2012.

During the year, no share option was granted under the New

Share Option scheme.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or its other associated
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable any of the
Company’s directors, chief executive of the Company (including
the spouse and children under 18 years old) or members of its
management, or its specified undertakings, to hold any interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or

debentures of, the Company or other associated companies.

Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements and
contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 30 to the accompanying financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
any of the Company’s directors or members of its management
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Substantial shareholders

So far as is known to any Director or Chief Executive of the
Company, as at 31st March, 2018, no shareholder (other than
Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) had interest or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept

by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed of all the three Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The Audit Committee
has reviewed with management the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control system, and financial reporting
matters, including the review of financial statements for the year
ended 31st March, 2018.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy of all
the Directors and the senior management. The Remuneration
Committee composed of all the three Independent Non-

Executive Directors of the Company.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is currently composed of the
Chairman of the Board, one Non-Executive Director and the
three Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company.
The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board on a
regular basis and making recommendations to the Board

regarding any proposed changes.

Financial summary
A summary of the Group’s financial information for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 20 to 21 of this annual

report.

Directors’ interests in competing business

During the year ended 31st March, 2018, none of the Directors
nor their respective associates had any interests in a business
which competes or may compete with the businesses of the

Company.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company has maintained during the
year under review the amount of public float as required under
the Listing Rules.
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Corporate governance
A report on the principal corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out on pages 32 to 46 of the

annual report.

Management contracts

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Group’s business was entered into or existed during
the year ended 31st March, 2018.

Employee and remuneration policies
The Group recruited and promoted individual persons according
The Group

determined the remuneration packages of all employees

to their strength and development potential.

(including the Directors) with reference to individual

performance and current market rate.

Directors’ indemnities and insurance

Subject to the applicable laws, every director of the Company
shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Company against all
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by him
or her in the execution and discharge of his or her duties or in
relation thereto pursuant to the Company Bye-laws. Such
provisions were in force during the course of the financial year
ended 31st March, 2018 and remained in force as of the date
of this report.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover for certain legal actions brought against its

directors and officers.

Auditor

The accompanying financial statements were audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Company’s auditors for the
ensuring year, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27th June, 2018
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) are committed to maintaining and
upholding good corporate governance in order to protect the
interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. The Company
strives at ensuring high standards of corporate governance in
the interests of shareholders and takes care to identify practices
designed to achieve effective oversight, transparency and ethical

behavior.

Throughout the year ended 31st March, 2018, the Company has
complied with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in the then Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except for the deviations as

mentioned below.

This report includes information relating to corporate
governance practices of the Company during the year ended
31st March, 2018 and significant events after that date and up
to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings and
code of conduct regarding securities dealings by directors as set
out in the Model Code for the year ended 31st March, 2018.

EEERER
RREBRREREMMBBBENND  EXEESR
RAR(ARADREMBE AR (REIAER]) R
NHERMBLESKENTEEER - ARTHNRE
BARKFHEREER UWRRONAB/KE - KA
TRABORE BETAREE RARTDEAERE
REBENBRBET -

BRTIXmitReEEN BE_T-NF=ZA=+—
BLFE ARAEETEEBAISIMER QA
EFHETRAANTETRBDMSE TR 2 EEE
yastRI(TEERTAID -

AREBERBE_Z-NF=ZA=ZT-RLFE
NEBARBZEEERFERZER ERZAHY
BRHEARERH ZEKRER-

EZcESFRS
ARFEREFETESFRX HRM LT AR BIH 8%+
B LT ARERETESFRZHRE SR ([RE
SR 2BEEHCORRB BE_ZT-NF=A
ZS+t-BLEEE RE-EATEHEFETES
RGP BETRINEHBAERLE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is at the core of the Company’s corporate
governance framework, and there is clear division of
responsibilities between the Board and the Management. The
Board is responsible for providing high-level guidance and
effective oversight of the Management. Generally, the Board is

responsible for:

J formulating the Group’s long-term strategy and monitoring

the implementation thereof;

o reviewing and approving the annual business plan and

financial budget;

o approving the annual and interim reports;

J reviewing and monitoring risk management and internal
control;

o ensuring good corporate governance and compliance; and

o monitoring the performance of the Management.

The Board currently has seven members, comprising three
Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and three
Independent Non-Executive Directors. Independent Non-
Executive Directors represented more than one-third of the
Board members, thus exhibiting a strong independent element
which enhanced independent judgement. Mr. Tam King Ching,
Kenny, an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
is a practicing CPA in Hong Kong and possesses appropriate
professional qualifications and financial management expertise
as required under the Listing Rules. A list containing the names,
roles and functions of Directors is published on the websites of
the Group and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (the
“HKEX").

The Board is scheduled to meet at least four times a year to
determine overall strategic direction and objectives and approve

interim and annual results and other significant matters.
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During the year ended 31st March, 2018, four full Board HEZZT-NF=ZA=+—BLEFER A A8
meetings and the 2017 annual general meeting (“AGM”) were TR BEEZEERER_T—tFRRBEFRE
held with an average attendance rate of 96% and 71% ([RERBFKE))  HEEXDHRI6%K%71% * 15
respectively, details of which are presented below: 25T
Board Members ExgmRE
Board Meetings

Board Members Attended/Held 2017 AGM

Exg —E—tF
ExgHNE EREE BT RRBAFRE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman of the Board) — WYL 4% (EF S F ) 3/4 v
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus FMAEBESLL 4/4 v
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles RGBT A 4/4 v
Non-Executive Director FHTES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRI L 4/4 —
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIAFHITES
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BR¥S S e & 4/4 v
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sss, /P BME - wezres cFut 4/4 —
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny A 4/4 v
Yearly meeting schedule is discussed and approved by the Z2FEHNEMNLHLEHES SR FVE KIHE -
Board at the beginning of the year. Board agenda is approved BAEHEBZREANRHESFAAOABASEEZTENE
by the Chairman following consultation with other Board B R#% KEXFEHERGIGI -FMAEGAMEEREH

members. Board agenda and meeting materials are dispatched

to all Board members in a timely manner.

All' Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied
with and advises the Board on corporate governance and
compliance matters. They are also encouraged to take
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in
performance of their duties, if necessary. Furthermore, all the
Directors are covered by the Directors’ & Officers’ Liability

Insurance, which is also part of our best practices.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The Company does not have
a separate Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Lam
Kwong Yu currently holds both positions. The Board believes
that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person would allow the Company to be
more effective and efficient in developing long-term business
strategies and execution of business plans. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured
by the operation of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals with a sufficient number thereof being

Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Code Provision A.2.7 stipulates that the chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) without the
executive Directors present. As Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, the
Chairman of the Company, is also an executive Director of the

Company, this code provision is not applicable.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung Chui has been re-designated from the position of
Executive Director to Non-Executive Director upon her
retirement from the Company. Ms. Yeung has not been
appointed for a specific term as she is subject to retirement by
rotation and reelection at AGM in accordance with the Bye-

laws of the Company.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
The roles of the Independent Non-Executive Directors include

the following:

o provision of independent judgement at the Board meeting;
J take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;
. serve on committees if invited; and

. scrutinize the performance of the Group as necessary.
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The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company and
their immediate family receive no payment from the Company
or its subsidiaries (except the Director fee). No family member
of any Independent Non-Executive Directors is employed as an
executive officer of the Company or its subsidiaries, or has been
so in the past three years. The Independent Non-Executive
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of
the Company. Each Independent Non-Executive Director has
provided a confirmation of his independence with reference to

the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

The Board has assessed the independence of all the Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company and considers all of
them to be independent having regard to (i) their annual
confirmation on independence as required under the Listing
Rules, (ii) the absence of involvement in the daily management
of the Company, and (iii) the absence of any relationships or
circumstances which would interfere with the exercise of their

independent judgement.

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry,
sgs, p and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny have served as
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company for more
than 9 years. In addition to their confirmation of independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chan,
Mr. Kwok and Mr. Tam continue to demonstrate the attributes
of an independent non-executive director and there is no
evidence that their tenure have had any impact on their
independence. The Directors are of the opinion that Mr. Chan,
Mr. Kwok and Mr. Tam remain independent notwithstanding the
length of their service and believe that their valuable knowledge
and experience continue to generate significant contribution to

the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

Appointments, re-election and removal

There is a formal and transparent procedure for the appointment
of new directors to the Board, the primary responsibility of
which has been delegated to the Nomination Committee. The
structure, size and composition of the Board will be reviewed
from time to time by the Nomination Committee to ensure that
the Board has a balanced skill and expertise for providing
effective leadership to the Company.
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In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, at each
AGM, not less than one-third of the directors shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall retire at least once every
three years. The retiring directors shall be eligible for re-
election. New appointments either to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the Board are subject to re-election by

shareholders of the Company at the next following AGM.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that Non-Executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
The Non-Executive Directors of the Company have not been
appointed for a specific term as they are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at AGM in accordance with the Bye-

laws of the Company.

Responsibilities of Directors

Upon acceptance of appointment, a new Director is provided
with sufficient orientation package, including introduction to
Group activities (when necessary), induction into their
responsibilities and duties, and other regulatory requirements, to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the business and

his responsibilities as a Director of the Company.

All' Directors are committed to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. Directors are given
guideline on their time commitments to the affairs of the
Company. Directors have also disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies or
organizations. Directors are reminded to notify the Company in

a timely manner of any changes of such information.

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of shareholders. Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sss, /p and
Ms. Yeung Chui were unable to attend the AGM of the
Company held on 17th August, 2017 as they were engaged in

other prior business commitments.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To ensure their contributions to the Board remains informed
and relevant, all the Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skill. During the year, the Company had
arranged in-house trainings for Executive Directors and the Non-
Executive Director in form of seminar and provision of training
materials. In addition, the Company also provided regular
updates to the Directors in respect of the business and
operations of the Group through monthly reports; and the
updates on the changes in Listing Rules, Corporate Governance

Code and related regulatory requirements, if any.

During the year, the continuous professional development taken

by the respective Directors are as follows:

Board Members

ESCRHESXERRE

REREZHECAGLIZEEARYEMENER
THEERFELEN ARFAHBAMEESL2ERF
BEEXZRRAR UBRREHMATAZERKE RN
REFRN ARALZHFTEREHRBIER G
TEZERFUTESZ - W ARFATERARESE
REFHEN BREBARRREHASENER
RZEEMBER: RABLTRY  AEBEATAR
HEEROEE (NE) -

FA SUEF2NZHEZXRRRFABEOT

Type of training

BEsgmE EIIREER
A B C

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu o e

(Chairman of the Board) (EF2 L) v v v
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus HEHELE v v —
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles R T E v v v
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRI v v —
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYKBITES
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BRA¥E St e & v — v
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sss, jp DME - ezmes cFut v — v
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny ER A v — v
A.  reading materials in relation to regulatory update A AHEEMTERFEENEHR
B. attending in-house training to update business B. [HEQAREBEBENEENHNIIE

development

C.  attending seminars/courses/conferences to develop C. HEGNE /RE /TN EUEEREZE

professional skill and knowledge

During the year, the Company received training records from all
Directors relevant to the Company’s business or to Directors’

duties and responsibilities.

BBE B A0

FRAARARKIIKEERESHEAEEAEXKLE
Eee M E ARG -
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Supply of and access to information

To allow the Directors to make an informed decision and
properly discharge their duties and responsibilities, the Company
Secretary ensures that relevant Board papers are sent to all the
Directors in a timely manner. All Board papers and minutes are
also made available for inspection by the Board and its
Committees.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Board Committees

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has preserved
three board committees (“Board Committees”) with defined
terms of reference (which are posted on website of the Group
and the HKEX), namely Remuneration Committee, Nomination

Committee and Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy and
package of all the Directors and senior management, assessing
performance of executive directors and senior management,
review and approving annual performance bonus and approving
the terms of service contracts of executive directors and senior

management.

The Committee Chairman is required to report to the Board on
its proceedings after each meeting on all matters within its
duties and responsibilities.

Meeting of the Remuneration Committee is required to be held
at least twice a year to coincide with key dates within the

financial reporting and audit cycle. During the year ended 31st

REREHESR
RTREZFAEHABAEREERTEBRERE
T ARAREEREMEFEXHNER T AER
MEESE FEEFEXMHRGALHENAIHRES
enhELZEEEH -

ExeRE
EEZ8e
RAFHEH AARCKRI-AEFRBTEE
B(EFZEE) UHTEWBRERECREAE

EREXAAGLTIH) ZSESZELATNER
T RRLEERERZEG-

FHEES
THZEENBEANESCERFEMEAEERAR

IEEZM%BZ%E& FEES  TEATEERS
NEHECRE EERMAEFERRES RILE
MITEERSREEBZRBEOBGR-

ZEGIRANBAGHERNESTIERARE
AEHERNZMASHRERFF -

FHEE AR BFERTMAGHE  AHMAEY
BHRERERBHAZEZEAFER A -BE=
E-NFZA=t+—HLEFER FHEESET

March, 2018, two meetings were held, attendance of these TMAE#H MZSETHEMILFERNAT -
meetings held by the Remuneration Committee is set out below:

Meetings
Remuneration Committee Members Attended/Held
FHEESERE ERHE BT
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman) PR E e & (F /) 2/2
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, s8s, p SRHNE - s B A FHT 2/2
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B EE A 2/2
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The Remuneration Committee is authorised to investigate any
matter within its Terms of Reference and seek any information
it requires from any employee and obtain outside legal or other
independent professional advice at the cost of the Company if it
considers necessary. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the compensation of the Directors and senior executives for
2018.

During the year ended 31st March, 2018, total Directors’
remuneration amounted to approximately HK$11,016,000 (2017:
HK$12,033,000), individual details of which are disclosed in
Note 10 to the financial statements. Executive Directors and
senior management’s compensation including incentive bonus

shall be based on the corporate and individual performance.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises of three Independent
Non-Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and

Chairman of the Board.

The Nomination Committee is to assist the Board in overseeing
Board organization and senior management succession planning,
assessing the independence of non-executive directors, review
of the structure, size and composition of the Board. During the
year ended 31st March, 2018, two meetings were held,
attendance of these meetings held by the Nomination

Committee is set out below:

FHZEeRRENCERARERENERNER
YA RERNEEREEFEZEMER  LEHAE
RREMBYEEATINER UBETHEBE A
HMERTARAAXN FHMEESCEEHNEELS
FATBRAB T —NFZHM-

Hz—_Z—)\F=-ZA=+—"HFER ZEEWL 4
# #11,016,000% 7t (= T — + 4 : 12,033,000/
L) A BEREM A REAMEIORE - ITES

BREEEFHEENCERBAARE AES
S o

REEZESE
REZEEH-MUBYFATES  —UFRTE
ENEEEEFEMAK -

REZEGRAMDEEERREFTSNARES
REBBEETE  URFEFERATESNBLL
RN EFENEE ABREAK -BE-_ZT-N\F
A=t BLEER BREZEEETTRMAE
@ MaEEANBERMNT

Meeting
Nomination Committee Members Attended/Held
REZEERE SRLE BT
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, s8s, jp (Chairman) WE - rzmEs AT+ (FE) 2/2
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael PRAA S 5 & 2/2
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu MRS & 2/2
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B E A 2/2
Ms. Yeung Chui BRL+ 2/2
Board Diversity Policy EEZEeEZTILBE

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity
on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.
Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge

and length of service.

AAREHRMEZEXRES TCEBRR(ERED &
FIHEEFSEREBNRBFREZTICARAES
BZERMEMRBRZAH - BREREK  ARARS
REREEGHEZTILEETRAZHEAE  BHE
TRPOER - Fit  XEREEER  KEFE &
FER R ABERBEE-
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The Nomination Committee and the Board will review the
Policy and diversity of the Board from time to time to ensure its

continued effectiveness and compliance with Listing Rules.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises of all the three Independent

Non-Executive Directors of the Company.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required to
oversee the relationship between the Company and its external
auditors, review with management the accounting principles
and practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control system, and financial reporting
matters, including the review of financial statements for the year
ended 31st March, 2018.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the interim and annual
results for the year ended 31st March, 2018 and was content
that the accounting policies of the Group are in accordance
with the generally accepted accounting practices in Hong Kong.
It also meets twice a year with the Group’s external auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”), to consider their report on the
scope, strategy, progress and outcome of their independent
review of the annual audit of the consolidated financial
statements. During the year ended 31st March, 2018, two
meetings were held, attendance of these meetings held by the

Audit Committee is set out below:

REZBELEFEHNTHBIBRREZENS
T ARRBETZEREMTE EHARA -

ENEES
ERZBEHARRZME=ZUBIIFATESMA
B o

REECZZECREDRE BEZZEeNRERR
ERARNTEIMERBAOEER RERERE

SEXRAZEFEMNERESR RBTET BERE
BRABEZRS ULAMBERSZR BREEHS
HEHE_ZE-NF=ZA=Z+—"BZEEFHBRE -

EREZEGEERNAE T N\F=ZA=+—RH1Lt
FENTHERE2EXE YTHAKENEHARETS
NeBABTBEANEERANSAERRTINE -
% B & I 85 B /0 HMES A BUED 2B K R OK B | AT ED
EBMIZEERDEFRTMAGHE UEEELX
BABUEZRAVBRRNFEERNER &
B EEMERMBEINBRSE - FABREZEGE
TTMREH  BEXRMT

Meetings
Audit Committee Members Attended/Held
EREEERE SHEHE BT
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny (Chairman) BB IERE(EE) 2/2
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael PRAA S 5 & 2/2
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sas, jp SR - e E A FHT 2/2
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s corporate
governance compliance. The Company has not established a
Corporate Governance Committee and has delegated the
function to a senior management committee to perform the
corporate governance function. The scope of works of the

committee including the following:
o to review performance of the Group regularly;

. to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make

recommendations to the Board;

J to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior

management;

. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements;

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and

directors.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flow for that period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2018, the Directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards;
made adjustments and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and have prepared the financial statements on the
going concern basis. The Directors are also responsible for
keeping proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the

Company.

The Company provides monthly updates to the Board to assess
the Group’s financial performance, position and prospects in
sufficient details to enable the Board members to discharge their

duties under the Listing Rules.
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Risk management and internal control

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are to provide a clear governance
structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting
mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks across

business operations.

The Group has established a risk management framework,
which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and the
senior management of the Group (“Senior Management”). The
Board determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be
taken in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and has the
overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation
and the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems. The Board, through the Audit Committee,
conducts reviews of the effectiveness of such systems at least
annually, covering all material controls including financial,

operational and compliance controls.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy
in providing directions in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the Senior
Management identifies risks that would adversely affect the
achievement of the Group’s objectives, and assesses and
prioritizes the identified risks according to a set of standard
criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then

established for those risks considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional
advisor to assist the Board and the Audit Committee in ongoing
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and in performing the internal audit functions for
the Group. Deficiencies in the design and implementation of
internal controls are identified and recommendations are
proposed for improvement. Significant internal control
deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board
on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are

taken.
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Risk management report and internal control report are
submitted to the Audit Committee and the Board at least once a
year. The Board, through the Audit Committee, had performed
annual review on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, including but not
limited to the Group’s ability to cope with its business
transformation and changing external environment; the scope
and quality of management’s review on risk management and
internal control systems; result of internal audit work; the extent
and frequency of communication with the Board in relation to
result of risk and internal control review; significant failures or
weaknesses identified and their related implications; and status

of compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Board considers the Group’s risk management and internal

control systems were effective and adequate during the year.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Group
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or

loss.

The Group has the Inside Information Policy which sets out
guidelines to the Directors and senior management of the Group
to ensure inside information of the Group would be
disseminated to the public in equal and timely manner in

accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by PwC. During the year, remuneration of approximately
HK$2,614,000 was for the provision of audit services. In
addition, approximately HK$433,000 was for other non-audit
services. The non-audit services mainly consist of tax

compliance and advisory services.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, Company Secretary of the

Company, is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. These objectives are achieved through
adherence to proper Board processes and the timely preparation
and dissemination to Directors comprehensive meeting agendas
and papers. Minutes of all Board meetings and Board
committees are prepared and maintained by the Company
Secretary to record in sufficient details the matters considered
and decisions reached by the Board or Committee, including
any concerns raised or dissenting views voiced by any Director.
All minutes are sent to Directors and are available for

inspection by any Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the
Board is fully appraised of all legislative, regulatory and
corporate governance developments relating to the Group and
also responsible for the Group’s statutory compliance. The
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject
to Board approval in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company. The Company Secretary reports to the Board, all
members of the Board have access to the advice and service of
the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary of the
Company has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. In
response to specific enquiries made, the Company Secretary
confirmed that he has complied with all the proposed
qualifications, experience and training requirements of the

Listing Rules.

Mr. Cheung confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours

relevant professional training during the year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with shareholders is given high priority.
Extensive information about the Group’s activities is provided in
the annual report and the interim report. The Group’s website
provides regularly updated Group information to shareholders.
Enquiries on matters relating to shareholdings and the business
of the Group are welcome, and are dealt with in an informative
and timely manner. The Group encourages all shareholders to
attend AGM. Notice of the AGM and related papers are sent to
shareholders at least 20 clear business days prior to the date of
AGM.
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The Company has established the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy setting out the formal channels of communication with
shareholders and other stakeholders for ensuring fair disclosure
and comprehensive and transparent reporting of the Group’s
performance and activities, a copy of the policy has been

posted to the website of the Group.

Shareholders’ Rights

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, Directors of
the Company shall on the requisition of members of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of such of the paid up capital of the
Company as at the date of the deposit carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, forthwith proceed duly to

convene a special general meeting of the Company.

Details of the procedures for shareholders to convene and put
forward proposals at an AGM or special general meeting
(“SCGM”) are set out in the Company’s website. Shareholders
may send their enquires requiring the Board’s attention to the
Company’s principal place of business at 3/F., Perfect Industrial
Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
or by e-mail to enquiry@hkstarlite.com. Questions about the
procedures for convening or putting forward proposals at an
AGM or SGM may also be put to the Company by the same

means.

The Company also values and is eager to hear suggestions and
comments from shareholders and investors. For enquiries from
institutional investors and securities analysts please contact our

Company Secretary.

Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Company’s Memorandum of
Association and Bye-laws during the year ended 31st March,
2018. A copy of the latest consolidated version of the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws is posted on the

websites of the Company and HKEX.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Chi Shing, Charles

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 27th June, 2018
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE

DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, aged 71, has been an Executive Director of
the Company since 1992. He is the Chairman of the Board,
founder and Chief Executive Officer of the Group. He holds a
Master Degree in Business Administration (Distinguished Alumni
Awards) from the National University of Singapore. Currently,
he is studying the Engineering Doctorate postgraduate
programme. Mr. Lam has been in community work in China
and Hong Kong for many vyears. He is a member of the
Standing Committee of the 10th, 11th and the 12th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, a director of Chinese Overseas Friendship
Association, a member of Selection Committee for the
Government of HKSAR and a committee member of the Election
Committee Subsector Elections, Chairman of Mainland Affairs
Committee of Scout Association of Hong Kong, Chairman of
Polar Museum Foundation, Director of Future Star, an Adjunct
Professor of College of Business of City University of Hong
Kong and Director of Guangzhou Jinan University. Mr. Lam has
received several prominent awards including “Hong Kong Ten
Outstanding Young Persons Award 1986”, “Young Industrialist
Award of Hong Kong 1988”, the first “Hong Kong Entrepreneurs
Award 1990”, “Outstanding Achievements Award” of the “Hong
Kong Print Award 1999” and “Medal of Honor (M.H.)” from the
government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
2002. Mr. Lam has over 54 years’ experience in the printing
industry and takes charge of the overall planning, strategy and
development of the Group. He has made dedicated efforts to
enhance the transformation of Starlite, business diversification,
products development, OBM product, intelligent (automation)

systems and “Internet +” business in recent years.

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus, aged 61, has been an Executive
Director of the Company since 1992. He is currently the Senior
Vice President and Chief Technical Officer of the Group. He
has been appointed as director of several wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company. He graduated from the Graphics
Art Department of the Chinese Culture University of Taiwan in
1978 and has over 40 years’ experience in the printing industry.
He is appointed as one of members of SAC/TC170
Standardization Administration of China in Printing Industry
participating in printing standardization affairs. He is also
appointed as one of members of the Packaging Printing
Technical Sub-Committee SAC/TC170/SC3. He is also appointed
as one of Assessors on the Qualifications Framework of the

Printing Industry of the Hong Kong Vocational Training Council.
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Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, aged 62, has been an Executive
Director of the Company since 2000, the Company Secretary
since 1999 and an Authorized Representative since 2011. He is
currently the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
of the Group. Mr. Cheung joined the Group in early 1997 and
is responsible for the overall finance function of the Group. He
has been appointed as director of several wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company. He has held various senior
positions in finance, accounting and auditing fields for more
than 32 vyears. Mr. Cheung graduated from The Hongkong
Polytechnic University and is an Associate Member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Fellow

Member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung Chui, aged 71, is one of the founders of the Group.
She was re-designated from the position of Executive Director
to Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect from 1st
September, 2011. She has over 50 vyears’ experience in the

printing industry.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 66, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee,
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 1993. Mr. Chan was the former
Chairman and is currently the non-executive director of the
publicly-listed Cafe de Coral Holdings Limited in Hong Kong.
He is also a Non-Executive Director of Tao Heung Holdings
Limited, an Independent Non-Executive Director of Pacific
Textiles Holdings Limited, Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International)
Limited, Modern Dental Group Limited, and Human Health
Holdings Limited, all of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He holds a double major
degree in Sociology and Political Science, a Master degree in
City Planning from the University of Manitoba, an Honorary
Doctorate Degree in Business Administration, and is bestowed
as Honorary Fellow from Lingnan University. Mr. Chan currently
serves on the council of the Hong Kong Management
Association, the adviser of the Quality Tourism Services
Association, as well as being appointed by the HKSAR
Government as a member of the Business Facilitation Advisory
Committee. Besides, he is also the Honorary Chairman of the
Hong Kong Institute of Marketing and the Chairman of the
Business Enterprise Management Centre of the Hong Kong
Management Association. He has many years of professional
experience in the public sector and over 30 years’ managerial

experience in the food and catering industry.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, s8s, /¢, aged 62, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of Nomination Committee,
member of the Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee
of the Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in July 2004. Mr. Kwok is a
practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. He is qualified to practise as
a solicitor in Australia, England and Wales and Singapore. He is
also qualified as a CPA in Hong Kong and Australia and a
Chartered Accountant in England and Wales. He graduated from
the University of Sydney, Australia with bachelor’s degrees in
economics and laws respectively as well as a master’s degree in
laws. He also obtained the Advanced Management Program

Diploma from the Harvard Business School.

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, aged 69, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee, member
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in July 2004. He is a
practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong. He is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tam is serving as a
member of the Small and Medium Practitioners Committee in
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is
also a Past President of The Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors. Mr. Tam also serves as an independent non-executive
director of certain listed companies on the main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, namely, CCT Fortis
Holdings Limited, Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited,
Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited, Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited, West China Cement Limited,
BeijingWest Industries International Limited, CCT Land Holdings
Limited and Wisdom Education International Holdings Company
Limited.
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Senior Executives

Mr. Tin Shing, aged 55, is the Senior Vice President (Operations)
of the Group. He joined the Group in 1981 and was promoted
to the present position on 1st February, 2012. He is responsible
for overseeing the Group’s production bases in the PRC. He has
more than 36 years’ of experience in the printing and packaging

industry.

Mr. Lau Ching Wai, Peter, aged 41, is the Senior Vice President
(Marketing & Sales) of the Group and joined the Group in
2013. Mr. Lau has over 18 years of experience in sales,
marketing and corporate management in various industries
including printing, banking, retail and IT. He holds a Bachelor
of Science Degree in Information Systems from the University of
New South Wales Australia. He puts his focus on data-driven
marketing strategies in order to enhance growth of the

Company.

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching, Derek, aged 40, is the Senior Vice
President (Finance) of the Group. He joined the Group in 2006
and was promoted to the present position on 1st April, 2016.
Mr. Poon graduated from The University of Hong Kong and
holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration. He has
extensive experiences in auditing and accounting. He is an
Associate Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a Fellow Member of The Association of

Chartered Certified Accountants.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

i
pwec

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF STARLITE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Starlite Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set

out on pages 60 to 164, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st
March, 2018;

J the consolidated income statement for the vyear then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for

the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the

year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and
o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which

include a summary of significant accounting policies.
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Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31st March, 2018, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities

in accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.
Key audit matters are identified in our audit as follows:

o Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment

and land use rights; and

. Provision for inventories obsolescence.
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Key Audit Matter
RERTEE

B M % B R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEAOMNEERRETEE

Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment and land use rights

ME BERRBUARTBEAEZHERE

Refer to Notes 14 and 15 to the consolidated

financia/ statements

EREGE A BREN F14K15

The Group has approximately HK$381.2 million of
property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) and land use
rights (“LUR”) as at 31st March, 2018, of which
approximately HK$77.0 million and HK$251.1
million are related to the Group’s production plant
and machinery and LUR in eastern and southern
China respectively. The Group’s eastern and southern
China segments are two separate Cash Generating
Units, both suffering from a loss after tax of
approximately HK$24.2 million and HK$35.0 million
respectively. The recovery of the economic
performance of the assets in eastern China were
slower than expected, while for southern China, the
economic performance of the assets were worse than
expected due to the deterioration in the operating
efficiency and gross margin. Therefore the possibility
of impairment of these assets is an area of focus for
management. Management assessed the recoverable
amount of the PP&E and LUR in eastern and
southern China separately as two Cash Generating
Units, based on the higher of the asset’s value in use
or fair value less cost of disposal.
EEER-_Z-N\F=ZA=Z+—-ENVE BER
BFHEIDE BEERRBEDAR L HERE(LH
ERAEDOR=ZEBNT A _TEET EHH
tF+rtE@8FTtBE_RAT—B-—+T8FTT
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In assessing the appropriateness of management’s assessment of

the recoverable amount of the PP&E and LUR, we performed

the following procedures:

\ﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁm%¥‘W%&&ﬁu&imﬁ%%%ﬂw
BEEEGRERN HMETTUATRERF:

o We evaluated management’s identification of the
impairment indicators by corroborating with supporting
evidence for the PP&E and LUR in eastern and southern
China.

. MRERDEREDOBODE BELRBAR L HE
REms  RAAAEXHXHRER HEEEBMH
R E R E R TTRI(E o

o We involved our in-house valuation expert in assessing
the methodology of management’s impairment assessment
based on the value in use calculation and the key
assumptions used in the management’s impairment
assessment of the PP&E and LUR.

. BMSHBASGEESRIHEREREEREETED
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Key Audit Matter
RERTEE

B M B R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEAOMNEERRETEE

Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment and land use rights (continued)

ME-BERREUARTIHEREZRERE®E

The value in use of these PP&E and LUR is
determined by management based on the future cash
flow generated by these assets. Based on
management’s impairment assessment, no additional
impairment charge is recognised in the current year.
EEERBRZSFEEMELNRKASAEEE %
EME BELRBUARLERENEREE-
REEEEOREN S TEFEMIEBEBRAF
[EHER -

We focused on this area because judgemental factors
are involved in management’s impairment assessment
as the determination of the recoverable amount of
the PP&E and LUR is based on various key
assumptions and estimates such as growth of sales,
production costs, selling and administrative expenses,
capital expenditure etc. and discount rates used in
the cash flow forecasts.

BHAFE TR BREAREEE R RER G5 & A E
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BENMBE HIWEE EEKRA HERTHRHA
X CBAXHENER RASREBAMERD
BAIR K o

. For value in use calculations, we assessed the
management’s impairment assessments based on the
future cash flow forecasts, by comparing growth rate to
the underlying assumptions in the latest Board approved
budgets and the discount rate to the cost of capital for
the Company and comparable organisations. We tested
the mathematical accuracy of the calculations of the
management’s impairment assessments derived from the
forecast models and assessed key inputs in the
calculations by reference to management’s approved
budgets. We also checked the key data of management’s
approved budgets by reference to third parties information
such as purchase orders, and we assessed the historical
reliability of the budgets.
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o We also performed sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions underlying management’s impairment
assessments based on the cash flow forecasts by
considering the variables and fluctuations in those
underlying key assumptions.

. BATEREEREMARBRENER L NS RELE
RERKADREFRAETRENGOEMEERKRRE
TTERE DT -

Based on the procedures performed above, we considered the
key assumptions and estimates made by management in
assessing the impairment of PP&E and land use rights to be
supportable.
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Key Audit Matter
RERTEE

Provision for inventory obsolescence

REFEZRERE

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial

statements

FRHEE M BEREN 18

At 31st March, 2018, the Group held inventories of
approximately HK$146,815,000, with provision of
inventory obsolescence of approximately
HK$24,471,000. Among these inventories, there are
raw materials of approximately HK$66,993,000, work
in progress of approximately HK$37,278,000, and
finished goods of HK$42,544,000. Inventories are
stated at lower of cost or net realisable value.
RZE-NF=ZA=+—H ' ESERFERFEH
146,815,000/ 7T * & {8 # # 40 7224,471,0008 7T E
ZEFET - BRME 45669930008 T EHMA
#337,278,000% 7T+ R K i 49 /342,544,000 TT
TFEABCA S, Al B3 FE 58 -

Management assessed the provision for inventory
obsolescence periodically based on consideration of
potential obsolescence and slow moving of raw
materials and work in progress, and the estimated
selling price less cost to sell of its finished goods.
The identification of inventory obsolescence and
determination of estimated selling price less cost to
sell require the use of significant judgements by
considering various factors, including their nature,
ageing, and the latest selling price.
EEERBHECERELBHENRM B RAER M -
UERARR NG EEREEXNANE R EH
HEREFENRB - BHIREFEREEME
BRHERAAEREAAGTEERZHARAE &
EHEE BREREHEE -

We regarded this as a key audit matter as provision
for inventory obsolescence required management
judgements on estimates of future demands and
ageing of the inventories.

HAREAERBAFE SHXREFERET
ZEIBEHFE NIRRT R KGR 5HE L HIE -

B M % B R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEAOMNEERRETEE

In assessing the appropriateness of management’s assessment of
the provision for inventory obsolescence, we performed the
following procedures:
RETEERBBENGNREFERBREORER  RMET TR
TEF

o We understood, evaluated and tested the key controls on
management’s periodic assessment of provision for
inventory obsolescence across the Group.

. BMTH FERASEEBEHTME EEERER
ERERERES -

o We tested, on a sample basis, the inventory ageing by
comparing the inventory records with the underlying

documents.

. BfEBLLRFERSEBEHXT  mEARFESR -

o We reviewed the subsequent utilisation of various raw
materials and work in progress, on a sample basis, to
assess the appropriateness of the associated provision
made, if any.

. BHMmERESERMERERMEENERABR - U
FEEPTERBE RS (WA RRIRE -

o We reviewed the subsequent sales of finished goods. We
tested, on a sample basis, the subsequent selling price of
different products and compared with the average unit
costs.

. BMEERAMERNHEE  AMBEAATRERHR
BA &S B B B AELL R -

Based on the procedures performed above, we considered the
estimates made by management in assessing the provision for
inventory obsolescence to be supported by available evidence.
REBEALMETHREF BRARSEREERFIEREFER B
B PR L B fh 5T AT BB A8 S8 ©
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the “Corporate Information”, “Chairman’s
Statement”, “Chairman’s Letter”, “Financial Summary”, “Report
of the Directors”, “Corporate Governance Report”, and
“Management Profile” (but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon), which we
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report”, which is

expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to

be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have

nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report”, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the audit
committee and take appropriate action considering our legal

rights and obligations.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee

for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.
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J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

J Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

J Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

J Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on

our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’s report is Cheung Yuk Ting, Mabel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27th June, 2018

B M % B R
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT =ae
HzE—

For the year ended 31st March, 2018

W =
T-NFZAS+—HILFE

Year ended 31st March,
BE=ZA=+—-HLEFE

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 3 FET FAET
Revenue A 5 1,533,094 1,445,870
Cost of sales $H & B AN 7 (1,287,456) (1,174,219)
Gross profit EF 245,638 271,651
Other losses — net HiEE — 558 6 (3,456) (7,673)
Selling and distribution costs HERDHEER 7 (97,351) (87,533)
General and administrative expenses — R RITHEX 7 (187,110) (155,823)
Operating (loss)/profit e (EE)EH (42,279) 20,622
Finance income BE WA 443 350
Finance costs B & K AN (7,813) (7,579)
Finance costs — net MEKAN — F5 8 (7,370) (7,229)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BREBAT(EE),RR (49,649) 13,393
Income tax expense TS fiF 11 4,787) (22,577)
Loss for the year attributable to the FREQARBEEAEBEER
owners of the Company (54,436) (9,184)
Losses per share attributable to the owners ~F R AR B HE B AL T
of the Company for the year (expressed EiE (BRABILZ5])
in HK cents per share) 12
— Basic —EK (10.37) (1.75)
— Diluted —8E (10.37) (1.75)

%?

The notes on pages 67 to 164 are an integral part of these REVEZRI64E 2 RLEFHREMBHRERNHELE
B

o

ok

=

consolidated financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  #R & & H W &= &

For the year ended 31st March, 2018

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Increase in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets

Currency translation differences

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year,
net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to

the owners of the Company

The notes on pages 67 to 164 are an integral part of

consolidated financial statements.

BE_ZT-/\F=ZRA=+—-HILFE

Year ended 31st March,
BE=ZA=+—-HBLHEE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FABT

FREE (54,436) (9,184)

Hib 2 mEUk s -

AJREER S AR B H B
AT ESREEZAAE

[EREpI 532 280

EHER 42,815 (23,904)
FRNEMEEbE (EBE) -

e 43,347 (23,624)
FRAEAQXBAEEAELEEZE

EIEHAE (11,089) (32,808)

%?

these RFEG7TEEIAEZMIAR/ILEHE AW RERNER
P

v

palsg
]

S

o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31st March, 2018

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Land use rights
Property, plant and equipment
Prepayments for non-current assets
Deferred income tax assets
Available-for-sale financial assets

Long-term bank deposit

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and bill receivables
Prepayments and deposits
Tax recoverable
Bank deposits with maturity over 3
months from date of deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to the owners of the
Company

Share capital

Reserves

Total equity

mEMBMRR R

RZE-NF=A=+—H

As at 31st March,

R=A=+—8H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 7 FExT FHET
BE
ERBEE
o+ b {5 A A 14 22,558 21,346
- BEREE 15 358,664 336,360
EMBEEZENMNK 6,425 6,825
BIEFTE M EE 23 3,818 5,620
A ESREE 17 14,690 10,636
RERITER 20 1,312 —
407,467 380,787
REEE
FE 18 146,815 118,107
BEORKERKRERE 19 238,326 244,125
ENREBERES 19 31,058 26,905
AT Uk B FT 15 B 3k 4,041 4,150
HERERTERR=
A B8 7 RIT1F 3K 20 15,165 14,106
BekBeEE 20 314,233 250,334
749,638 657,727
BmEE 1,157,105 1,038,514
R
KAGEEAELER
& A< 24 52,514 52,514
1 26 480,294 491,383
EREE 532,808 543,897



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31st March, 2018

mEMBMRR R

R_ZE—-N\F=R=+—H

As at 31st March,

R=A=+—8H
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Ff 5 FET FHT
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Borrowings A& 21 110,369 72,457
Deferred revenue PEIE W A 1,152 1,249
Deferred income tax liabilities BELEMSHEE 23 7,260 6,264
118,781 79,970
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and bill payables BHRMNERRRE 22 184,612 131,338
Current income tax liabilities BERFTEH B & 20,621 23,095
Borrowings ME 21 139,674 113,466
Accruals and other payables JE T B & N H Al 3R 160,379 146,540
Deferred revenue IR E WA 230 208
505,516 414,647
Total liabilities EEAE 624,297 494,617
Total equity and liabilities EaRkREEEHE 1,157,105 1,038,514

The notes on pages 67 to 164 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 164 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 27th June, 2018 and

were signed on its behalf.

Lam Kwong Yu
M an
Chairman
TE

RECTAZI4E 2T RBUSHREMBRROER

2B -

FOOBEEIABZ AV BERRER=_ZZE—NF XA

“ttREEFeMHERRERES -

Cheung Chi Shing, Charles
Director

BE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31st March, 2018

Balances at 1st April, 2016

Comprehensive income
Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

Increase in fair value of available-for-
sale financial assets

Currency translation differences

Total other comprehensive loss,
net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Transactions with the owners
in their capacity as owners
Dividends paid

Balances at 31st March, 2017 and
at 1st April, 2017

Comprehensive income

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
Increase in fair value of available-for-

sale financial assets
Currency translation differences

Total other comprehensive income,
net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Balance at 31st March, 2018

The notes on pages 67 to 164 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

R-ZZE-AFOMA—A

Equll
FAREBRA

H i 2 [ W &
b EeREEZ
RAEEEM

EREER

Hit2EEEBEE —
BB &

FAZEBREER

BERARERASOHN
X5
ENEE

R=Z2—+t%=A
=+-BR=%F—-t
FMA-A&

AL
FABRE

H i 2 [ W 28
AHEESREELZ
R EEE M
ERER

Hit 2 E WS AE —
BB 12

FRAEEBEAR

R=ZZE-NE=A
=t+—-B#&&

BHE_ZTZ-)/\F=ZA=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATEBANELS
Share capital Reserves Total
i 2= B et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TR
52,514 537,319 589,833
— (9,184) (9,184)
— 280 280
— (23,904) (23,904)
— (23,624) (23,624)
— (32,808) (32,808)
— (13,128) (13,128)
— (45,936) (45,936)
52,514 491,383 543,897
— (54,436) (54,436)
— 532 532
— 42,815 42,815
— 43,347 43,347
— (11,089) (11,089)
52,514 480,294 532,808

RETAZI4E 2T BUSHREMBRROER

B -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 42 B4 RE X

For the year ended 31st March, 2018 HE-Z- \E=ZA=+—HILEE

Year ended 31st March,

=R=+—-HLHEE
2018 2017
—E-NFE ZZT—+F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5 TERT FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETHRERE
Cash generated from operations CEEBEFEZRER 27(a) 57,630 66,638
Interest paid 2R E (7,813) (7,579)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEBFEHR (3,984) (13,692)
Overseas income tax paid BB INTER (3,133) (9,751)
Overseas income tax refunded BREBINFER 1,600 310
Hong Kong profits tax refunded SREFBNEH 18 —
Net cash generated from operating activities #X&/EBEE 2B & F 5 44,318 35,926
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHz2RERE
Purchases of property, plant and BEWE BEREKE
equipment (51,740) (62,257)
Investments in available-for-sale financial RERAHEECREE
assets 3,522) —
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE BEIEREZ
plant and equipment ARSI A 27(b) 599 2,784
Increase in long-term bank deposit RESEITFERZ M 1,312) —
(Increase)/decrease in short-term bank i =188 5 8 2 52 B4R
deposits with maturity over 3 months TER G M) R
from the date of deposits (1,059) 390
Interest received 2 IF & 443 350

Net cash used in investing activities KREGTHMAZER S FR (56,591) (58,733)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 42 B4 KRE X

For the year ended 31st March, 2018

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from long-term bank loans
Repayments of long-term bank loans
Proceeds from short-term bank loans
Repayments of short-term bank loans
Dividends paid

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing

activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash

equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning

of the year

Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash

equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of
the year

The notes on pages 67 to 164 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

BHE_ZTZ-)/\F=ZA=+—HILFE

Note
Ff 51

MEEFBZRERE
MIBRITRMER
BRRITRAER
MIBRITEBERN
BRRITEPER
ENEE

MEEBELE (A Z
REFER

REeRALEEZEE
2, (RL)

FORRERREEHE

AehkBHeFEZERL
Yk /(& 1R)

FRZBERREEHE
20

2B -

Year ended 31st March,

ZA=t—-HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHT
130,000 87,000
(83,443) (91,039)
99,064 123,052
(84,641) (141,213)
— (13,128)
60,980 (35,328)
48,707 (58,135)
250,334 311,571
15,192 (3,102)
314,233 250,334

RE7EE164A 2 AL EHRE T B MR ER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an
investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials, labels and paper products, including

environmentally friendly paper products.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 3rd
November, 1992, as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The
address of its registered office is Canon’s Court, 22
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda and its
principal place of business is 3/F, Perfect Industrial
Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. The Company’s shares have been listed on The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 1993.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in

Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
available-for-sale financial assets which are carried

at fair value.

A M BRRME

1 —RER
EXEMAERARIAAAD I —RREE
BRAF -HMBARANTE LB AR RE
ERENME EERAELS  SEBRER
ES -

o

ARABRR—NAMNZF+—A=ZAREARE
NEHEBIBHR B REFTMRLAERRE
MR AR o E 9 =& ik ACanon’s Court,
22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda
MLEFZEXEMIABTBENENEEARAEE
ST —REETIXEAE= -ARAKRHE
— NN =FRREBEMAERXSMERAA LT -

BREEERN WEGAMBHRRABT(E
T2 -

2 EBEEEHBEHE
RELSEANBREMEANEIEGHE
EHIMT - BRBBHEAN WEBRKEREZ
SIZHAEFEEHER -

2.1 REEE
ARREREMBRERDBIEMAEEAN
BAVBRELEN(EEUBEREE
Al & & ABCRA BHEBINF622F) B 1
BRETMRE SREVBRERLZBEL
MAERE  WHAIHEESRHEE (M
AREEINE) ZEMMEDEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in

Note 4.

(@  Amended standards adopted by the Group
The following amendment to standards have
been adopted by the Group for the first time

for the financial year beginning 1st April,

2017.
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash
(Amendments) Flows: Disclosure
Initiative
HKAS 12 Income Taxes
(Amendments)

Annual improvement  Disclosure of
project (HKFRS 12

(Amendments))

Interest in

other entities

The adoption of these amendments did not
have any impact on the current period or
any prior period and is not likely to affect

future periods.

e M BRRME

2

EZEMBEME (B

2.1

i BB % ()
BREBYBREEAGREAVBHR
RARAETEEG hat EBER
RAREE S BRE  RAEDH
BophmEHESERE SBEA
I RREEMMRR R EHE T I
ARE -

@)

EEBERHZEREET X
AEER-_ZT—tFMA—HRE
FRFEEE GREMAT AR
BRI AN »

BB ERTER RenER —
F7RUETAR) BWEFER

BAEGRTER P3¢
1258 (BRI AC)

BHEFE YL Hi b EHRE
SE(ERME  BEmRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards and
interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards and amendments
to standards and interpretations are effective
for annual periods beginning after 1st April

2017 and have not been applied in preparing

A M BRRME

2 BEESHHEBRE(H)
2.1 mEBEEEGE)
(b)) DKM ERRAICETEUR

2E
ZHFEARETRNARZER
“E-tFOA-HEBFEHMHE
BEAER BERERUESHEAHFE
WREDARER -

these consolidated financial statements.

Annual improvements project

FEBERE

Annual improvements project

FREBCERE

HKAS 19 (Amendments)

ARG ERE195 (BETA)

HKAS 28 (Amendments)
BB G ERF285 (BFTA)

HKAS 40 (Amendments)
BB G ERF405 (BT K)

HKFRS 2 (Amendments)

B EERF298 (BETA)
HKFRS 4 (Amendments)

BB REER B4 (BRI A)
HKFRS 9
BB R E 2R FR

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

(Amendments)

BEAMBREERFEI05% K
EB G ER B85 (BRTA)

Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle
FEYE2014-20161E 1

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

BEMBRE R FE
2015-201738

Employee Benefits

BEREF

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
EBHENGERELIRE

Transfers of Investment Property

HRREAME

Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions

AR RERZNRZ S 2D B RFE

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts
HEEVBREENZARRBEVERBT BB
WELBEREMTA

Financial Instruments
LRI A

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture
BREERAEBENTRNAECEZHD

Effective for annual
periods beginning on
or after
FEHBEMBR
REEM

1st January, 2018
—E-NE—-—HF—H

Tst January, 2019

—E-hE—-—HA—H

1st January, 2019

—E-hF—A—H

1st January, 2019
—E-hE—-HF—H

1st January, 2018
—E-N\F—AF—H

1st January, 2018

—E-N\F-A-A

Tst January, 2018

—E-NF-f-A

1st January, 2018

—E-N\F—HA—H

To be determined

EREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards and

e M BRRME

2 EESTERERMEGE

2.1 mEBEEEGE)
(b)) DKM ERRAISETEUR

interpretations not yet adopted (Continued) 2 (E)
Effective for annual
periods beginning on
or after
FEHBERRN
REER
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1st January, 2018
BBV BRELERB155% HEPFZENEREEHKRA —E-NE—-—HF—H
HKFRS 16 Leases 1st January, 2019
BB REENFE 165 HE —E-hF—A—H
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1st January, 2021
BEUBREENF175 wEBEH —E-—%—HF—H
HKFRIC — Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 1st January, 2018

Consideration
ER (BB BERERABEZES) INERZR Z RIEMNKE —E-NE—-—HF—H
®E — F2025%

HKFRIC — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1st January, 2019
B8 (BRVBRERBEZES) ez T T2 EE —ZT-AEFE—-—H—H

2E — $235%

The Group has commenced an assessment of
the impact of these new standards and
amendments to existing standards and
interpretations. Except as discussed below,
the Group is not yet in a position to state
whether they would have a significant
impact on its results of operations and

financial position.

A& BT FE AT U F 3 E R K&
BEEAMBITARZENY
2 BRTITXzZ@mass KEBE]D
AETEHZEXERYBRR
ERBNEATE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards and
interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)

HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments”

HKFRS 9 addresses the classification,
measurement and derecognition of financial
assets and financial liabilities introduces new
rules for hedge accounting and new

impairment model for financial assets.

The Group has reviewed its financial assets
and liabilities and the financial assets held
by the Group include equity instruments
currently classified as available-for-sale
financial assets for which a fair value

through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) election is available. Accordingly,
the Group does not expect the new guidance
to affect the classification and measurement
of these financial assets. However, gains or
losses realised on the sale of financial assets
at FVOCI will no longer be transferred to
profit or loss on sale, but instead reclassified
below the line from the FVOCI reserve to

retained earnings.

There will be no impact on the Group’s
accounting for financial liabilities, as the
new requirements only affect the accounting
for financial liabilities that are designated at
fair value through profit or loss and the
Group does not have any such liabilities.
The derecognition rules have been
transferred from HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

and have not been changed.

Fae)

2

Bt 75 R MY &

EZEMBEME (&)

2.1

fmSLE % ()

(b)

DRI ERRAEETEUR
PREE(E)
BB FRELREIS [/
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EAMBREENFIFRRTE T
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EREILHER LB A—EHD
g RARTNSREER
BEER -

AEBECEHMESREERE
z'KEIﬁﬁZ%ﬂEEE%'
MoERAHHESREEZ
%AIE'%$TET®ﬁFE
3R H b 2 WS UEE%FE
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TEFELELREENDAR
HE-AWM MEERAREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards and
interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)
HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

The Group does not apply any hedge
accounting, therefore the management
expects no financial impact regarding the

new hedge accounting rules.

The new impairment model requires the
recognition of impairment provisions based
on expected credit losses (“ECL”) rather than
only incurred credit losses as is the case
under HKAS 39. It applies to financial assets
classified at amortised cost, debt instruments
measured at FVOCI, contract assets under
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, lease receivables, loan
commitments and certain financial guarantee
contracts. While the Group has not yet
undertaken a detailed assessment of how its
impairment provisions would be affected by
the new model, it may result in an earlier

recognition of credit losses.

The new standard also introduces expanded
disclosure requirements and changes in
presentation. These are expected to change
the nature and extent of the Group’s
disclosures about its financial instruments
particularly in the year of the adoption of

the new standard.

HKFRS 9 must be applied for financial years
commencing on or after 1st January, 2018.
The Group will apply the new rules
retrospectively from Tst April, 2018, with the
practical expedients permitted under the
standard. Comparatives for 2018 will not be

restated.

e M BRRME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards and
interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)
HKFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with
customers”

This standard replaces HKAS 18 which
covers contracts for goods and services and
HKAS 11 which

contracts. The new standard is based on the

covers construction

principle that revenue is recognised when
control of a good or service transfers to a
customer. The standard permits either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective

approach for the adoption.

Management is currently assessing the effects
of applying the new standard on the Group’s
financial statements and has identified the

following areas that are likely to be affected:

o revenue from sales of goods — the
application of HKFRS 15 may result in
the identification of separate

performance obligation which could

affect the timing of the recognition of

revenue;

o accounting for certain costs incurred
in fulfilling a contract — certain costs
which are currently expensed may
need to be recognised as an asset
under HKFRS 15; and

o rights of return — HKFRS 15 requires
separate presentation on the balance
sheet of the right to recover the goods
from the customer and the refund

obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards and
interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)
HKFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with
customers” (Continued)

The Group is assessing the impact of this
standard by analysing the above criteria
regarding the revenue recognition and
currently has not identified any material

impact to the Group.

HKFRS 15 is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after Tst January, 2018.
The Group intends to adopt the standards
using the modified retrospective approach,
which means the cumulative impact of the
adoption will be recognised in retained
earnings as at 1Ist April, 2018 and the

comparatives will not be restated.

HKFRS 16, “Leases”

HKFRS 16 will result in almost all leases
being recognised on the balance sheet, as
the distinction between operating and
finance leases is removed. Under the new
standard, an asset (the right to use the leased
item) and a financial liability to pay rentals
are recognised. The only exceptions are
short-term and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not

significantly change.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards and
interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)
HKFRS 16, “Leases” (Continued)

The standard will affect primarily the
accounting for the Group’s operating leases.
As at the reporting date, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments of
HK$14,433,000 as stated in Note 28. The
Group has not yet assessed what other
adjustments, if any, are necessary for
example because of the change in definition
of the lease term and the different treatment
of variable lease payments and of extension
and termination options. It is therefore not
yet possible to estimate the amount of right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities that will
have to be recognised on adoption of the
new standard and how this may affect the
Group’s profit or loss and classification of

cash flows going forward.

The new standard is mandatory for financial
years commencing on or after 1st January,
2019. At this stage, the Group does not
intend to adopt the standard before its
effective date. The Group intends to apply
the simplified transition approach and will
not restate comparative amounts for the year

prior to first adoption.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Consolidation
2.2.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including
structured entities) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control

ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is
used to account for business combinations
by the Group (see Note 2.2.2).

Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately
in the consolidated income statement,
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of

financial position respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
2.2.2 Business Combination

The acquisition method of accounting is
used to account for all business
combinations, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition

of a subsidiary comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred,

o liabilities incurred to the former

owners of the acquired business,

o equity interests issued by the Group,

J fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent

consideration arrangement, and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity

interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are, with limited
exceptions, measured initially at their fair

values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s

net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
2.2.2 Business Combination (Continued)

The excess of the

. consideration transferred,

J amount of any non-controlling interest

in the acquired entity, and

. acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquired

entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If
those amounts are less than the fair value of
the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in the consolidated income statement
as a bargain purchase. Contingent
consideration is classified either as equity or
a financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in the consolidated income

statement.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at
the acquisition date. Any gains or losses
arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
2.2.3 Change in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a
loss of control as transactions with equity
owners of the Group. A change in ownership
interest results in an adjustment between the
carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount of the adjustment to
non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised
in a separate reserve within equity

attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or
equity account for an investment because of
a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity
is remeasured to its fair value with the
change in carrying amount recognised in
profit or loss. This fair value becomes the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to the consolidated income
statement or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
2.2.4 Separate financial statements

2.3

2.4

In the Company’s statement of financial

position, investments in subsidiaries are
accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost
also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis

of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in

subsidiaries is required upon receiving

if the

dividend exceeds the total comprehensive

dividends from these investments

income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend

amount of the investment in the separate

is declared or if the carrying

financial statements exceeds the carrying
the consolidated financial
of the

amount in

statements investee’s net assets

including goodwill.

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner

consistent with the internal reporting provided to

the chief operating decision-maker.

operating decision-maker,

The chief

who is responsible for

allocating resources and assessing performance of

the operating segments, has been identified as the

Chairman/Chief Executive Officer who makes

strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

@

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company’s functional and the

Group’s presentation currency.

Fae)

2

Bt 75 R MY &

EZEMBEME (B

2.2

2.3

2.4

e (|

224 BUHBHE
RARR 2B BHRILE WEA
AR ERKATIRIBE - KA TR
PIEEEEEBNRENAK AR
AIEBRREWAREEBRHB R
Al BT EANER -

EEERMERRNRENK

1§'1hﬁx§iﬁjﬁfﬁﬁ"77£*7)f&
BREHAMNEEREEE M
RIERI B RENBREREES
%?&?ﬁﬁ“ﬂﬁ%i%@(ﬁﬁﬁg)
RZE B RENKREE BIA
HRIMB AR 2R ELETRENR

DEWE
BEDE TR ET g%i‘}?&%ﬁ%z
BRE-"BZIATUAE2R-TEZ

EARREAERD @Eﬁﬁ&aﬂﬁ%%%ﬁ
CRE ERB/PORBEATELE
REE - RAARGERBRE -

SR E

(@) NHEEHKNZEIEH
rEESEERNIMB®REA
EEOUZEECEEMENEE
i%/m ZEM::JFE(’VW@E%Q
) - mAaMBRERUNETZN
BITRARFNINGEEE R AE
EH 258 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are generally recognised in the consolidated

income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents
are presented in the consolidated income
statement within “finance income” or “finance
cost”. All other foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in the consolidated
income statement within “other losses —

net”.

Changes in the fair value of debt securities
denominated in foreign currency classified as
available-for-sale are analysed between
translation differences resulting from changes
in the amortised cost of the security and
other changes in the carrying amount of the
security. Translation differences related to
changes in amortised cost are recognised in
the consolidated income statement, and
other changes in the carrying amount are

recognised in other comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets,
such as equities classified as available-for-
sale, are included in other comprehensive

income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated

into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the
date of that statement of financial

position;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates

prevailing on the transaction dates, in

which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of

the transactions); and

(i) all

differences are recognised in other

resulting currency translation
comprehensive income.
On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of any net
investment in foreign entities, and of
borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments,
are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit

or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sales.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4

2.5

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies (Continued)
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
Currency translation differences arising are

recognised in other comprehensive income.

(d)  Disposal of foreign operation and partial

disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest
in a foreign operation), or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, all of the
currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company

are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated
currency translation differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group’s ownership interest in associates or
joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange difference is reclassified to profit

or loss.

Land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for land use rights
are accounted for as prepaid operating lease
payments. They are expensed in the consolidated
income statement on a straight-line basis over the
periods of the lease; when there is impairment, the
impairment is expensed immediately in the

consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings comprise mainly factories and
offices. Property, plant and equipment, including
leasehold land classified as finance leases but
excluding construction in progress, are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly

attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in

which they are incurred.

Leasehold

commence amortisation from the time when the

land classified as finance leases
land interest becomes available for its intended
use. Amortisation on leasehold land classified as
finance lease and depreciation on other assets is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

— Leasehold land Over the lease term
classified as finance
lease

— Buildings 25 to 50 years

— Plant and machinery 5 to 10 years

— Furniture and equipment 5 to 10 years

— Motor vehicles 5 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period. An asset’s carrying
amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount

(Note 2.7).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress comprises buildings on
which construction work has not been completed
and plant and machinery for which installation
work has not been completed. It is carried at cost
which

expenditures and other direct costs less any

includes construction and installation
impairment losses. On completion, construction in
progress is transferred to the appropriate categories
of property, plant and equipment at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. No depreciation is
provided for construction in progress until it is

completed and available for use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within “other losses — net” in

the consolidated income statement.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there

are separately identifiable cash flows (“cash-

=

generating units”). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at each

reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets
2.8.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following categories: loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial
assets. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the investments were

acquired.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. If collection of the amounts is
expected in one year or less they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets. The Group’s
loans and receivables comprise “trade and
bill receivables”, “cash and cash
equivalents”, “bank deposits with maturity
over 3 months from date of deposits” and
“long-term bank deposit” in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Notes 2.12
and 2.13).

Investments are designated as available-for-
sale financial assets if they do not have fixed
maturities and fixed or determinable
payments, and management intends to hold
them for the medium to long-term. Financial
assets that are not classified into any of the
other categories (at financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables or held-to-maturity investments)
are also included in the available-for-sale

category.

The financial assets are presented as non-
current assets unless they mature, or
management intends to dispose of them
within 12 months of the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets (Continued)
2.8.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date, the
date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership. Loans and receivables are
subsequently carried at amortised cost using

the effective interest method.

When securities classified as available-for-
sale are sold, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are
included in the consolidated income
statement as “gains and losses from

investment securities”.

2.8.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at fair value through
profit or loss are expensed in the

consolidated income statement.

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity
investments are subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest

method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets (Continued)
2.8.3 Measurement (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets and
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are subsequently carried at fair value.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the

fair value are recognised as follows:

o for “financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss” — in the consolidated
income statement within other income

or other expenses;

o for available-for-sale financial assets
that are monetary securities
denominated in a foreign currency —
translation differences related to
changes in the amortised cost of the
security are recognised in the
consolidated income statement and
other changes in the carrying amount
are recognised in other comprehensive

income;

o for other monetary and non-monetary
securities classified as available-for-sale

— in other comprehensive income.

Dividends on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and available-for-sale
equity instruments are recognised in profit or
loss as part of revenue from continuing
operations when the Group’s right to receive

payments is established.

Interest income from financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss is included in the
net gains/(losses). Interest on available-for-sale
securities, held-to-maturity investments and
loans and receivables calculated using the
effective interest method is recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of

revenue from continuing operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

29

2.10

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of

the Company or the counterparty.

Impairment of financial assets

(@)  Assets carried at amortised cost
The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired
and impairment losses are incurred only if
there is objective evidence of impairment as
a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a
“loss event”) and that loss event (or events)
has an impact on the estimated future cash

flows of the financial asset or group of

financial assets that can be reliably
estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include

indications that the debtors or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, and where observable data
indicate that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions

that correlate with defaults.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(@)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)
For loans and receivable category, the
amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount
of the asset is reduced and the amount of
the loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. If a loan or held-to-
maturity investment has a variable interest
rate, the discount rate for measuring any
impairment loss is the current effective
interest rate determined under the contract.
As a practical expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the basis of an
instrument’s fair value using an observable

market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was
recognised (such as an improvement in the
debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the
previously recognised impairment loss is
recognised in the consolidated income

statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired.

For debt securities, if any such evidence
exists the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost
and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in profit or loss — is
reclassified from equity and recognised in
profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the
fair value of a debt investment classified as
available-for-sale increases and the increase
can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised in profit or loss, the impairment
loss is reversed through the consolidated
income statement.

For equity investments, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost is also evidence that
the assets are impaired. If any such evidence
exists, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost
and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in profit or loss — is
reclassified from equity and recognised in
statement.

the consolidated income

Impairment losses recognised in the
consolidated income statement on equity
instruments are not reversed through the

consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.11

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method. The cost of finished
goods and work

in progress comprises raw

materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal
operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable

variable selling expenses.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer), they are classified as current assets. If not,

they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision

for impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, and bank overdrafts. In the
consolidated statement of financial position, bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current

liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %R & Bi 7% 3R 3 Ffi 5%

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EERETHRMEE
(Continued)

2.14 Borrowings and borrowing costs

214 RMERBMERA&

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in
the consolidated income statement over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest

method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facilities will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that
some or all of the facilities will be drawn down,
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the

facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve

months after the end of the reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. All other borrowing costs are charged to
the consolidated income statement in the period in

which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.15

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are

presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.

@) Current income tax
The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the date of statement
of financial position in the countries where
the Company and its subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to

interpretation. It establishes provisions where

appropriate on the basis of amounts expected

to be paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However,
the deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if it arises from initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the date of statement of financial position
and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the

deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be

utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, except for
deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it
is probable that the temporary difference will

not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries only to the extent
that it is probable the temporary difference
will reverse in the future and there is sufficient
taxable profit available against which the

temporary difference can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(c)

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net

basis.

liabilities are

legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either

Current tax assets and tax
offset where the entity has a
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the

asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.17 Ordinary share capital

Share are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue

of new shares or options are shown in equity as a

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Employee benefits

@)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the date of

statement of financial position.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the

time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

Retirement benefits

The Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes. A
defined contribution plan is a retirement
benefit scheme under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity.
The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contribution for
post-retirement benefits beyond these fixed

contributions.

The schemes are generally funded through
payments to government authorities,
insurance companies or trustee-administered
funds. The Group pays contributions on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
The contributions are recognised as
employment benefit expense when they are
due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or
a reduction in the future payments is

available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(c)

Share-based compensation

The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of share
options is recognised as an expense over the
vesting periods of the options granted. The
total amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted excluding the
impact of any non-market vesting conditions.
Non-market vesting conditions are included
in the assumption that the number of option
that are expected to become exercisable. At
the end of each reporting date, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest. It recognises the
impact of the revision of original estimates,
if any, in the consolidated income statement,

with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share

premium when the options are exercised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

) Profit-sharing and bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonuses and profit-sharing,
based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit attributable to the
Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a
provision where contractually obliged or
where there is a past practice that has

created a constructive obligation.

2.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating

losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of

obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risk specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to the passage of time is

recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.20 Revenue and income recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sale of
goods in the ordinary course of the Group’s
activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added
tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after

eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured; when it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow to
the entity; and when specific criteria have been
met for each of the Group’s activities as described
below. The Group bases its estimates of return on
historical results, taking into consideration the type
of customers, the type of transactions and the

specifics of each arrangement.

(@)  Sales of goods
Sales of goods are recognised when a group
entity has delivered products to the
customer, the customer has accepted the
products and collectability of the related

receivables is reasonably assured.

(b) Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method. When a loan and
receivable is impaired, the Group reduces
the carrying amount to its recoverable
amount, being the estimated future cash flow
discounted at the original effective interest
rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest income.
Interest income on impaired loans and
receivables is recognised using the original

effective interest rate.

(c)  Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the

right to receive payment is established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.21

2.22

Leases

The Group leases certain property, plant and
equipment. Leases in which a significant portion of
the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by
the lessor are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor), including
upfront payment made for land use rights, are
charged to the consolidated income statement on a

straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Leases of certain property, plant and equipment
where the Group has substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value of
the leased property and the present value of the

minimum lease payments.

Each
liability and finance charges. The corresponding

lease payment is allocated between the
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are
included in other long-term payable. The interest
element of the finance cost is charged to the
consolidated income statement over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period. The property, plant and equipment
acquired under finance leases is depreciated over
the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the

lease term.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can
also be a present obligation arising from past
events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that an outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured reliably. A contingent liability
is not recognised but is disclosed in the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will
then be recognised as a provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.22

2.23

2.24

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

(Continued)

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises
from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain events not
wholly within the control of the Group. A
contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements when an
inflow of economic benefits is probable. When an

inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

Dividend distributions
Dividend distributions to the Company’s
shareholders are recognised as a liability in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends

Company’s shareholders.

are approved by the

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received and the Group will

comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the statement of profit or loss
over the period necessary to match them with the

costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred revenue and are credited to the statement
of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the

expected lives of the related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s principal activities expose it to a
variety of financial risks: market risk (including
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash
flow interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and
price risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. Risk management is carried out by
senior management of the Group under policies
approved by the Board of Directors of the
Company.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
Subsidiaries of the Company operate
in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”), Hong Kong, Singapore and
Malaysia with most transactions
denominated in either Renminbi
(“RMB”), Hong Kong dollars, Singapore
dollars (“SGD”), United States dollars
(“US$”) or Malaysian ringgit (“RM”).
The Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk primarily through sales
and purchases transactions that are
denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the relevant
subsidiary. The Group considers its
foreign currency exposure mainly
arises from the exposure of RMB and
SGD against Hong Kong dollars and/or
US$. As Hong Kong dollars is pegged
to US$, the Group believes the
exposure of transactions denominated
in US$ which are entered by group
companies with a functional currency
of Hong Kong dollars to be

insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
@) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group manages its exposures to
foreign currency transactions by
monitoring the level of foreign
currency receipts and payments. The
Group ensures that the net exposure
to foreign exchange risk is kept to an
acceptable level from time to time.
The Group also regularly reviews the
portfolio of local and international
customers and the currencies in which
the transactions are denominated so as
to minimise the Group’s exposure to

foreign exchange risk.

As at 3Tst March, 2018, approximately
99% (2017: 94%) of the Group’s
borrowings were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and RMB while the
remaining were mainly denominated
in US$ (2017: US$ and RM). The
Group’s borrowings are mainly in
Hong Kong dollars or RMB for
operation in the PRC. At present, the
management does not expect that
there will be any significant foreign
exchange risk associated with the
Group’s borrowings and the Group
did not use any financial instruments
to hedge its foreign exchange risk
arising from the Group’s borrowings
during the year.

At 31st March, 2018, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2017:
5%) against Hong Kong dollars with
all other variables held constant, pre-
tax loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$1,029,000 higher/
lower (2017: pre-tax profit
HK$258,000 lower/higher), mainly as
a result of foreign exchange losses/
gains on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, trade
payables and borrowings denominated
in non-functional currency of the
relevant group companies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

@

(i)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March, 2018, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2017:
US$ with all

variables held constant, pre-tax loss

5%) against other

for the year would have been
approximately HK$3,361,000 higher/
(2017: pre-tax profit
HK$1,755,000 lower/higher), mainly

as a result of foreign exchange losses/

lower

gains on translation of cash and bank

balances, trade receivables, trade
payables and borrowings denominated
in non-functional currency of the

relevant group companies.

At 31st March, 2018, if SGD had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2017:
US$ with all

variables held constant, pre-tax loss

5%) against other

for the year would have been
approximately HK$1,446,000 higher/
(2017:
HK$1,272,000 lower/higher),

as a result of foreign exchange losses/

lower pre-tax profit

mainly

gains on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, and trade
payables denominated in non-
functional currency of the relevant

group companies.

Cash flow fair value and interest rate
risk

As the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for the
cash and bank balances, the Group’s
income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes

in market interest rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

@

b

Market risk (Continued)
(if) Cash flow fair value and interest rate
risk (Continued)
The Group’s interest rate risk mainly
arises from borrowings. The Group is
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank
borrowings. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate arising from

the Group’s borrowings.

At 31st March, 2018,

on borrowings had been

if interest rates
10 basis
points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, post-tax loss
for the year would have been
HK$192,000 higher/lower (2017: post-
tax profit HK$145,000 lower/higher),
mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest expense on floating rate

borrowings.

Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from trade receivables and deposits with

banks and financial institutions.

Credit risk on trade debtors is managed by
the managements of the individual business
units

and monitored by the Group’s

management on a group basis. Most

customers are sizable and renowned.
Management assesses the credit quality of
smaller customers by considering their
financial position, past experience therewith
and other relevant factors. The utilisation of
credit limits is regularly monitored. Debtors
with overdue balances will be requested to

settle their outstanding balances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

b

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)
At 31st March, 2018, the Group had a
concentration of credit risk as 18% (2017:
25%) of the total trade receivable were due
from the Group’s five largest customers and
12% (2017: 12%) of the total

receivable were due from the Group’s largest

trade

customer.

The Group believes that adequate provision
for impairment of trade receivables has been
made in the consolidated financial statements
and that all customers with delinquency in
payments and indication of impairment were
fully provided for. To the extent that
information is available, management has
properly

expected future cash flows in

reflected revised estimates of
their
impairment assessments in relation to
receivables. As at 31st March, 2018, a total
provision for impairment of trade receivables
of HK$10,755,000 (2017: HK$8,299,000) had
been recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.

The Group has policies that limit the amount
of credit exposure to any individual financial
institution. The Group’s bank deposits are all
deposited in renowned and established banks
or financial institutions in Hong Kong,
PRC.

Management considers that the credit risk

Singapore, Malaysia and the
associated with deposits with banks and

financial institutes is low.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the
availability of funding through an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities. Due to
the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group’s management aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by maintaining

availability under committed credit lines.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c)  Liquidity risk (Continued)
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity reserve which comprises
cash and cash equivalents and long-term
bank deposit (Note 20) and

borrowing facilities (Note 29) on the basis of

undrawn

expected cash flows.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-
derivative financial liabilities into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the date of statement of financial
position date to contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Balances due within twelve months equal
their carrying balances, as the impact of

discounting is not significant.

Specifically, for the bank borrowings which
contain a repayment on demand clause
which can be exercised at the banks’ sole
discretion, the analysis shows the cash
outflow based on the earliest period in
which the Group can be required to pay,
that is if the lenders were to invoke their
unconditional rights to call the loans with

immediate effect.

Group £®
At 31st March, 2018 R-ZB-NF=A=+—-8

Borrowings

Trade and bill payables
Other payables

Interest payable

At 31st March, 2017
Borrowings
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Other payables

Interest payable
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d)

Price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk arising
from its investments in equity securities
which are classified on the consolidated
statement of financial position as available-
for-sale financial assets. To manage its price
investments

risk arising from in equity

securities, the Group diversifies its

investment portfolio.

The equity securities invested by the Group
are publicly traded on The Hong Kong Stock

Exchange.

At 31st March, 2018,
equity securities invested by the Group had

if the prices of the

been lower/higher by 10%, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s equity
would have been approximately HK$189,000
(2017: HK$172,000) lower/higher.
The fair value of the unlisted insurance
policies invested by the Group will fluctuate,
subject to the returns which are at the
discretion of the issuer of the insurance
policies. Such policies have a minimum
guaranteed returns during the holding period.
Management is of the opinion that the price
these

risk arising from policies is

insignificant.

Fae)

3

Bt 75 R MY &

M ERER (E)
31 MBERBRERGE
) ESER

RAEERHEREEHBRAEZS
BRAIHEESRMEENKRAE
FEEASCAERAZERRR -
AEBOHEAKREMES NER
RABHFREMELENBRER -

FEBRBENRABZSNE B
BRGMARRFIES -

RZZFE—-N\F=A=+—H "
AEBBEHRAEHFEBERTHR
S EF10% - AT A HE A E 2R

BAg AEEESHEERS
T8 £ 7 #9189,0000 T (= &
—+4F 172,000 7T) °

AEBBREMFELTRRRE
HARBESERREARARE
E’J@#ﬁﬁﬁ&iﬁ CIERERFA Y
MAREERHRRE BEER/
BRESIRAERRRIY FNEX -
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Fae)

Bt 75 R MY &

3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3 BBEREBREE(E)
3.2 Capital risk management 32 BEXEmER
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are REEEREAZBRRRELNEEF
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a BiRREZEN UARRRHEE®RREA
going concern in order to provide returns for HpHFnEREMNETERREERR
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders BIABIRE AR -
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, REFIHBERER AEELSH
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends BRETREZBRESHE BEXBER
paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, RBITHRIHEEENRDEIE -
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net AREENFEELERERERHEE
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt K ZUELNEBEFERARKEET
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as H BEFHEINARE(BEREGEEY
total borrowings (including current and non-current BRAAKRPERENRDLRFERDRE)
borrowings as shown in the consolidated statement BEEeRREEE RABLBETEARN
of financial position) less cash and cash HEMBMRRRPOIIRARER] -
equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity”,
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
The Group’s strategy was to maintain a net gearing FEBZEBREFFEAELE IR
ratio less than 75%. The Group was in net cash 75% AEBEBE_T-NFR_-F
position as at 31st March, 2018 and 2017. The net —+tF=ZA=F+—BAFREsMKA- R
gearing ratios at 31st March, 2018 and 2017 were —E-N\FERZE-—+tF=RA=+—H
as follows: ZEBELENAT
2018 2017
ZE-N\F —Z—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
Borrowings (Note 21) m&E (P aE21) 250,043 185,923
Bill payables (Note 22) & R A& (MY 3E22) 1,184 245
Total borrowings REE 4R 251,227 186,168
Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) B SRITEE MRS (M EE20) (314,233) (250,334)
Net cash ReFH (63,006) (64,166)
Total capital IR AR 4858 532,808 543,897
Net gearing ratio FREE N/A N/A




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets including cash and cash equivalents, bank
deposit, trade and bills receivables and deposits
and financial liabilities including trade and bill
payables, other payables and short-term bank
borrowings, approximate their fair values due to

their short-term maturities.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31st March,
2018 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques
Such

categorised into three levels within a fair value

used to measure fair value. inputs are

hierarchy as follows:

— Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from

prices) (level 2).

—  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,

unobservable inputs) (level 3).

A M BRRME

3 MHREREEE

3.3

DABEEZMEE

AEBZeREE RRASEESS
B ROER BIRREREEZERER
ReNLeRABEEERESIBRNERR
R HEtmENRRERRITERE &
REBBERE BAUtEREAESEAR
EEMRE -

TEROIMAEER -_Z-NF=A
=S+ -—HEBRAEAAEBEZMBER
WARMBARBHNER AE8BAAME
BIEzEMTAZAREE FHEE
ABBIDRTXRAmMOBREARRE
BERBAN=ERE R :

— FREEXREEERTS LM
BECREAR)(E-R) -

— BE-RABENHREN EE
A ENEEAER) L ME
(BB LASNE ) BRATE R
AEEZR) -

— YIIRBABEMSEHEMEE
MEEXBBENEZR AR
ENAR)(E=H) -
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation (Continued)
The following table presents the Group’s assets that

are measured at fair value at 31st March, 2018.

Assets BE
A ESREE

Available-for-sale financial

assets

The following table presents the Group’s assets that

are measured at fair value at 31st March, 2017.

Assets gE
AfEESREE

Available-for-sale financial
assets

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3

during the year.

(@)  Financial instruments in level 1
The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the date of consolidated statement
of financial position. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise

primarily listed equity investments classified

as available-for-sale financial assets.

e M BRRME

3 MEBERBEEGE
3.3 DREEZMEETE)
TREJNAEEAR - - NF=A
SH-AUARBEEGENEE-

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—R -t 1} B=H “Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET FET FEx
1,890 — 12,800 14,690
TREWNAEER-_ZE—LEF = A

=+ —HURABEAENEE -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Et B4R F=H wET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
1,723 — 8,913 10,636
FR - F—HK F_HRE=ZHBL

mEm o

@ WAE-—RHELMTA
EERmSEENERIANR
ABERBEESMBRIAKRAE Y
B TS ME IR o B HE R A
MEMREZRZSH X558
B ZAALT EERBEEX
EERBERS YTHEZZRER
RBEAAZHRBETHERMN
FROTEZHE  ZHHER
RERB-AKRERANEREE
MmSHRESERED ME- I
ETABREE R -UFES
EE-QRNITEIEBEIER
AHEEERMEEN EHRER
5o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

3.4

Fair value estimation (Continued)

b

(©)

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use
of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on
entity specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in

level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3
If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the

instrument is included in level 3 (Note 17).

Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities
No financial asset and financial liability is subject

to offsetting under an enforceable master netting

arrangement or similar arrangement as at 31st
March, 2018 and 31st March, 2017.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and

are based on historical experience and other factors,

including expectations of future events that are believed

to be reasonable under the circumstances.

A M BRRME

3

B 75 L B B R (48D
33 AAREEZMHEF(E)

b)) IWAF-HZWE@ITA
BBEEERMBEENERIEA
(BB TE T B AR BE
FAGBERMEE - EERITE
E B AT A3 A9 AT B AR T 5 2R
(nE) THEELKBEENE
Effiste Mt —HSBRIAE®D
ARBEMTENMEERNE AR
AERAE Azem I A A
B

() FAE=HKH+HTA
WE-—BRZEEEERLIER
BRBRmERE EMIAS
WEABE=ZH(MF17) -

34 TRHEENRSHMAEENMEEES

BEARERHEET R A H
st RAMERFETE LEBEERK
ERE BERERERTHEASGEY
KRB Z BB -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning

the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by

definition,

seldom equal the related actual results. The

estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

discussed below.

(a)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group conducts impairment reviews of assets
when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable
or annually in accordance with relevant accounting
standards. An impairment loss is recognised when
the carrying amount of an asset is lower than the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In determining the value in use,
management assesses the present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to arise from
the continuing use of the asset and from its

disposal at the end of its useful life.

Management judgement is required in the area of
asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be
recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
being the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value-in-use which is the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset in the business; and
(iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow forecast including whether
these cash flow forecast is discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates, the gross profit margin or the
revenue growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
forecast, could affect the net present value used in
the impairment test and as a result affect the

Group’s financial position and results of operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(@)

(b)

Impairment of non-financial assets

(Continued)
As at 31st March, 2018,

non-financial assets, including property, plant and

the Group has certain

equipment and land use rights in the eastern China
segment and southern China segment, amounting
to approximately HK$77.0 million and HK$251.1
million respectively. The recovery of the economic
performance of the assets in eastern China were
slower than expected, and while for southern
China, the economic performance of the assets
were worse than expected due to the deterioration
in the operating efficiency and gross margin
resulting in a loss from operation. Management
considered the above as impairment indicators for
these two cash generating units and has performed
impairment assessments on these assets.
Management has also performed sensitivity analysis
over the key assumptions of the cash flow
forecasts, including future revenue growth rate and
discount rate, in order to assess the potential
impact of a range of possible outcomes. Based on
the results of the assessments, it is concluded that
no further provision nor any provision for
impairment of the above non-financial assets of the
eastern China segment and southern China segment
is not required respectively, which is disclosed in

Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and applicable
variable selling expenses. These estimates are
based on current market conditions and the
historical experience of manufacturing and selling
products of a similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in customer
taste and competitor actions in response to industry
cycles. Management reassesses these estimates at

the end of each reporting period.
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(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision
for impairment of trade receivables based on an
assessment of the recoverability of the receivables.
This assessment is based on the credit history of its
customers and other debtors and current market
conditions, and requires the use of judgements and
estimates. Management reassesses the provision at

the end of each reporting period.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in

which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are recognised
when management considers it is likely that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred income tax assets and
income tax expenses in the period in which such

estimate is changed.

e M BRRME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(e)

Fair value of financial assets

The fair values of financial assets that are traded in
an active market are determined by the quoted
market prices. For the fair values of financial assets
not traded in an active market, the Group would
use the quoted price provided by counterparty to
estimate the fair values. For the fair values of
financial assets not based on observable market
data, the Group would use other valuation
approaches to measure the fair values. The
methodologies, models and assumptions used in
valuing these financial assets require judgement by
management which are mainly based on market

conditions existing at each reporting date.

5  Revenue and segment information

(@)

(b)

Analysis of revenue by category
Revenue represents the net amounts received and

receivable from customers during the year. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue by type for the

year is as follows:

Sales of packaging materials, labels and paper

products, including environmental friendly MERS

paper products BE M
Others H At
Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”) of
the Group has been identified as the Chairman/Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. Operating
segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The
CODM of the Company reviews the Group’s internal
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. Management has reported the results of

the operating segments based on these reports.

A M BRRME

4

B RS E R B (&)

(e)

ERMEENAAEE
REBTSEENEREENAIABE
MASEREE MLFNERTHE
ENEZREENAABE ARESR
BREESTRERENERGEFEAAE
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LON:$ V-
WA KRFRE B R R R FORF
B FAAEBWARENOONIT

HEBRRMH BR&ERK

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FATT
BIERIRA

1,505,126 1,423,005
27,968 22,865
1,533,094 1,445,870

by HBER

ARARERE/BOREERAEEALTE
BERARE([ETBREREE]D - KE
DHBAMEZEEARERTALZR
—HHEA 2R ARF EE2LERE
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5

Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5

(b)

Segment information (Continued)

(b)

The CODM of the Company considers the business

from a geographical perspective, i.e. determined by

the location of major factory plants

including

Southern China, Eastern China and South East Asia,

and assesses performance based on

revenue,

operating (loss)/profit, (loss)/profit for the year,

capital expenditure, assets and liabilities.

The segment results for the year ended 31st March,

2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Year ended 31st March, 2018
Segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue from external customers

Operating (loss)/profit

Finance income
Finance costs
Income tax expense

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other information:

Additions to property, plant and equipment
Depreciation and amortisation

Capital expenditure

Year ended 31st March, 2017
Segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue from external customers

Operating profit/(loss)

Finance income
Finance costs
Income tax expense

Profit/(loss) for the year

Other information:

Additions to property, plant and equipment

Depreciation and amortisation

Capital expenditure

Provision for impairment of property, plant and
equipment

—E-NFZA=Z+-BLEFEE
7 EB A
5 7B WA

KEINBEPEA

g (B8R F

A& WA
B PR A
AR X

Fr(ER)EF

Hb&H

FEWE BB KRG
B R

EARRX

SR tFZASt-BLEE
2 EBA
5 HRRA

TEERR P A

EEEF (BB

AE WA
B PR AR
FT 15 B B 52

Frafl(E8E)

Htn & -
MigmE - BE RERE
rEREHE

BEAXRRX

WE - BB RERBRERE

e M BRRME

WA RDEHER (&)

2 BE R ()
ARAETBRERRERREGRLR M
B30 AMRIEBENMAEBREER
BER ERLRBIE EREBEEA
gE(ER &8 FAEBE) &
MBARAX AERAGBHGEEDH
HRR -

HE-_Z—N\FER=-ZFT—ttF=A
ST RALFEZHEELENT ¢

Southern Eastern  South East

China China Asia Group
E3e) #R REE )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET FET FET FiET
1,176,044 352,041 157,714 1,685,799
(9,910) (142,795) — (152,705)
1,166,134 209,246 157,714 1,533,094
(27,127) (23,054) 7,902 (42,279)
307 120 16 443
(6,442) (1,299) (72) (7,813)
(1,778) _ (3,009) (4,787)
(35,040) (24,233) 4,837 (54,436)
34,822 16,166 1,152 52,140
33,948 12,021 8,013 53,982
32,825 16,966 1,949 51,740
1,151,991 295,045 151,614 1,598,650
(9,389) (143,391) — (152,780)
1,142,602 151,654 151,614 1,445,870
31,132 (20,340) 9,830 20,622
146 154 50 350
(5,923) (1,257) (399) (7,579)
(20,688) — (1,889) (22,577)
4,667 (21,443) 7,592 (9,184)
50,105 6,840 2,408 59,353
35,313 12,223 7,333 54,869
51,468 8,381 2,408 62,257
— 10,000 — 10,000
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5 Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5

(b)

(c)

(d)

Segment information (Continued)

An analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
segment as at 31st March, 2018 and 2017 is as
follows:

A M BRRME

WARDEHER (&)
(b) 7 EER(E)

As at 31st March, 2018 R=ZB-NEF=ZA=+-—8
ol

BEE

Segment assets

Segment liabilities DEEE

As at 31st March, 2017
Segment assets

o EbAE

Segment liabilities HEBEBE

Information about major customers

Revenues of approximately HK$372,349,000 (2017:
HK$364,127,000) are derived from two external
customers (2017: two external customers). These
revenues are attributable to the Southern China

segment.

Analysis of revenue by destination of
customer
Revenue from external customers by country, based

on the destination of the customer:

Hong Kong and the PRC HERH
The United States of America 35

South East Asia R
Europe B

Others Efth

R-B-—tF=A=+—

B

(c)

(d)

RZB-NFR_BE-—tF=ZA=+—
ALEFEAEEZOMEERBBEDT
W

Southern Eastern  South East
China China Asia Group
E3e) #R REE %
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET FET
768,226 211,051 177,828 1,157,105
464,686 134,424 25,187 624,297
707,140 159,628 171,746 1,038,514
386,571 75,688 32,358 494,617

FRTEEFEH

#3372,349,000% T(= & — £ F:
364,127,0007% 7o) By W AR B ™ E 5h 2R
EE(ZE—+F: ZlAIKRER) It
ZEWRABRERDI -

REFEMNLZBADH

IREBEFIMEE D 2 WA RIBEEFP
Z By

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
403,897 330,517
464,507 463,719
178,863 228,685
412,885 376,968
72,942 45,981
1,533,094 1,445,870
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e M BRRME

5  Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5 WAK S &R ()
() FRBEEDMN

(e) Analysis of non-current assets

Non-current assets, other than financial instruments

and deferred income tax assets by country:

The PRC
Hong Kong
Malaysia

Singapore

6 Other losses — net

Provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment
Net exchange (losses)/gains

Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment

Others

EEESERDEE  BHBREMT
BENEEMBHEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FABT
# 314,041 289,041
BB 19,705 22,971
BARAE 51,276 50,676
oo 2,625 1,843
387,647 364,531
6 HMtEE — FH
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
ME BB REEZ

VEREREE — (10,000)
ER (BB WEFE (10,547) 1,374

HEME BELREEZ
BB (2,854) (4,569)
Hfth 9,945 5,522
(3,456) (7,673)
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Expenses by nature

Raw materials and consumables used

Sub-contracting charges

Repairs and maintenance

Freight and transportation

Employment benefit expense (including directors’
emoluments) (Note 9)

Operating lease rentals of premises charged by

— third parties

— related parties (Note 30)
Provision/(write-back of provision) for impairment

of trade receivables (Note 19)

Provision for inventory obsolescence (Note 18)

Amortisation of land use rights (Note 14)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
(Note 15)
Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit services
— Non-audit services

Other expenses

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution costs,

and general and administrative expenses

A M BRRME

7 BUMEEEZZRAX

R R R H A R A
MIERA
HIBERE
EREH
BIRAMAX (BIEESFM
) (fF7E9)
HRAYM¥(KEHE e
ST
— F=H
— @& AL (3E30)
B HEWETORERE
(B e (M3E19))
METFTERERE
(Bg5E18)
T AR S (M sE14)
ME- -BMERSBEZITE
(B 5E15)
1% BAM B &
— RER®
— BRI
H Bk

HEMAKN HERDHER
Ko — MR R AT IR B >z 48

2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
725,688 633,587
87,865 65,980
18,263 21,308
51,279 48,687
493,859 467,348
8,335 11,168

79 76
2,196 (3,119)

991 933

725 711
53,257 54,158
2,966 2,796

433 344
125,981 113,598
1,571,917 1,417,575
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Finance costs — net

e M BRRME

8 BEMAE — FHE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Finance costs Al & B A
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITREMBE X H 7,813 7,579
Finance income ALE WA
Interest income on bank deposits WRITERFBWA 443 (350)
7,370 7,229

Employment benefit expense (including

directors’ emoluments)

9 EBEIRIHX(BEEEM®)

2018 2017

—E-N\E —T—+F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FA&T

Salaries, wages and allowances He - TENKER 416,212 387,076

Discretionary bonus B HREZIEAL 7,488 2,129

Pension costs — defined contribution plans RIKKAR — REHREE 50,818 65,835
Provision/(write-back of provision) for long service KRR e RFRZEE

payments and annual leave yae: 158 1,861 (1,180)

Other welfare and benefits E it 58 A & M &= 17,480 13,488

493,859 467,348

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to
join the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution
scheme managed by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, each of the group companies (the employer) and
its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The
monthly contributions of each of the employer and the
employee are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 and thereafter

contributions are voluntary.

FEBERBEEEIZ2MABHIERESE
(MeEerdl)) ZEAARERFLHBT
EREATE RERBESFE  FESQF (R
DEEEESAHRRAREEBAR(R®
B RTE R A BRD 2 ER) Z5% © & £
REE#HKXE A Z LR B1,5008 7T @B L
BRE R R B BRI -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Employment benefit expense (including

directors’ emoluments) (Continued)

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China,
group companies operating in Mainland China contribute
to state-sponsored retirement plans for their employees.
The employees contribute approximately 8% of their
salaries, while the group companies contribute
approximately 13% to 19% of the salaries of their
employees and have no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations

payable to retired employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Singapore, the
group company operating in Singapore contributes to the
Singapore Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 5% to 20% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 7.5% to 17% of the
wages of its employees. The employer’s and employees’
contributions are subject to a cap of ordinary wages of
SGD6,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$34,600)
during the year ended 31st March, 2018.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Malaysia, the
group company operating in Malaysia contributes to the
Malaysia Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 5.5% to 11% of their wages, while the
group company contributes approximately 6% to 13% of
the wages of its employees. The employer’s and

employees’ contributions are not subject to a cap.

A M BRRME

EIRIMXX(BREEHS) (E)

REBFEESR AEERTEEEBZAF
RERBRI—ERETHALABERE BN
BRASFHE BT ZHABOREAFEZ
#8%  MEBARZHRBEHNA/EREEEAR
FEZH13%E19% - BFEEHRTIN FERQ
ARERNERENTHIERRERBNIL A
FREE ZEHERE SRR S F S &
BEUHRAKEENFBERAKRERE-

WEFMBEER AEERFTMEEEBZ
DRBBRRE—EEAFTNEFRAES
BETERKSFE - R%ZTE  BERRES
e ZH5%E20% c MER AR 2 HREIR
BEHLL75%E17%  BEINEBEBAHK
ZEBRRZZFE—N\F=HA=+—HFE /6,000
T3 T (A8 % 7 934,600/ JT) ©

REBEBFRAOTER AEERFREEAZE
BZoRAHEHRAE-—BARRERAZFR
RESHEERKESFE - RZFE - EEH
RERFEZH55%F11%  MEBEAQFZ
HABLREEFH T 2H6%E13% BE MIE
BZHRALEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10

Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives

The following disclosures are made pursuant to section

383 (1)(a) to (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

(Cap. 622), and Parts 2 to 4 of the Companies (Disclosure

of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
(Cap. 622G) and Hong Kong Listing Rules.

(@)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
For year ended 31st March, 2018, the remuneration

of directors and the chief executive

below:

Name of Director

For the year ended
31st March, 2018

Executive Directors
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing,
Charles

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chui

Independent Non-Executive
Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong,
Michael
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong,
Larry, SBS, JP
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

is set out

Emoluments
paid or
receivable in
respect of a
person’s
services as a

e M BRRME

10 EERERTRAERZANERES

THHERBIEEB(RAEHNE2E)E
3BM@EMNK - RARWEEENZER)

A (F622CE)E_KRENWM

AT AES -

(@)

EERTRZHME

aNgvi

DEb R EBE LT

EFLRATREBEE-_Z-N\F=H
=t-HEFEZME2OT

director,
whether of
the Company
or its Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director’s other
subsidiary services in connection with the management of the affairs,
undertaking whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
REAFAES
(FREELFT,
ENBARANE
B MRENES
X FERESA RESRUEHER(TRARAAAIEMELF)
RESTREE EROEMERE  INTFERESOHFH -
R 7 R 4 3 B RREE RS R B A
Employer’s
contribution
to a
Allowances  retirement
Discretionary and benefits benefit
ESpnR Fees Salaries bonus in lieu scheme Total
BHEREZ RER BRKERE
we He A EYAE BEZHR MEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHER FExT FHET FERT FET
—Z2-N\¥=A
=t-RLEE
HITESE
K 0 5 150 4,060 338 540 76 5,164
BHE L E 150 1,496 125 — 43 1,814
REREE
150 2,824 243 — 71 3,288
FUTES
BRIt 150 — — — — 150
BYFBTES
PR e
200 — — — — 200
HAE - waEE
AFHT+ 200 — — — — 200
BWEIEEAE 200 — — — — 200
1,200 8,380 706 540 190 11,016
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior 10 EERSRITHRAEZINZLER

executives (Continued) (#&)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments @ ESBSLITRZME(E)
(Continued)
Emoluments
paid or

receivable in
respect of a
person’s
services as a
director,
whether of
the Company

or its Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director’s other
subsidiary services in connection with the management of the affairs,
undertaking whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
REAERES
(PREARFL
ENELRNE
=) MRGEARHE -
XNFHESER REFRAEFHER(TREAARIEMBRF)
ZEFURRE EHMEMBE XN THESOHM
TR 7 R 4 5 o 3% 8 0] Bh R 5 RS i R & Hr B
Employer’s

contribution
to a
Allowances retirement

Discretionary and benefits benefit
Name of Director ERES Fees Salaries bonus in lieu scheme Total
BHREZ AR K RIKAEFIET
e #FE TE4T Bz BEEHX aEt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
For the year ended —E-tH=AH
31st March, 2017 =t+-HLEFEE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu MR 0 5 A 150 4,060 955 270 76 5,511
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus HEELEE 150 1,497 352 — 43 2,042
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, KA KA
Charles 150 2,731 685 93 71 3,730
Non-Executive Director FHTES
Ms. Yeung Chui BB LT 150 — — — — 150
Independent Non-Executive BUFBTES
Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, PR e 5 A
Michael 200 — — — — 200
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, SRIRRE - sRgHEE
Larry, SBS, JP A FHLt 200 — — — — 200
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny ERRIES A 200 — — — — 200

1,200 8,288 1,992 363 190 12,033
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

(@)

(b)

(o)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

During the year, no emoluments were paid or
receivables in respect of accepting office as
directors (2017: Nil) and no directors waived any
emolument (2017: Nil).

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu is also the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for services rendered

by him as the Chief Executive.

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

None of the directors of the Company received or
will receive any retirement benefits or termination
benefits in respect of their services to the Group
for the year ended 31st March, 2018 (2017: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year, the Company has not paid any
consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services to the Company (2017:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings entered into by the Company in favour of
the directors of the Company, or body corporate
controlled by or entities connected with any of the
directors of the Company at the end of the year or

at any time during the year (2017: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Except as disclosed in Note 30(a), no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the period or at
any time during the year (2017: Nil).

e M BRRME

10 EERERITRAEZNERER
(&)
@ ESBERITRZHME (H)

FA O TEREIEEBRUMEXINR
EURBROME (—F—tF B LLE
EEMEEMAHFMN (T —LF: 8-

MAMEEMBARRRNITR - Lt
BEEMene B MEARTRZHE -

by ESZERAEFNRBEBER

HE_Z-N\F=ZA=Z=+—-—BLFE
N BERARBEEREAAEEREMH
BR 75 2 Y B =k 5 Y ER A B A (o] 3R K AR A
SRBEMN (T F®) -

(0 BEREEBREMAEF=IXFZ
RE
FAAEEREREREERBE AR
AfmAERNE=TXNRE(CZ -t
F\)-

(d FHRESRZESHZIESEE
FAEERITVYNENR XEXR
Htt X5 2E&HR

AEEMERAARREETREETNRE
HEENEEERARE AMA] LRF
REFERNEAERDAFENER %
ERHEMRGH(ZT—tF \) -

() EEBERXRZ RPJSHZEK
R &
BrMfSE30@ P RSN BB AR EE
BRIV ARBBEPTN T RARAE
EEERAEERBEEARAEMNFRK
FRAERABEDATENEARS &
PREH(ZE—LF &) -
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

()

(g

Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group include three Executive

Directors (2017: three) whose emoluments are

A M BRRME

10 EERERTRAEZNZRER

(#)

H JEEUESHFAL
AEBAMBBHFALF S ART
EF(CT—LF: D) AMEERR
LS TR BN RENBT AL

reflected in the analysis presented above. The BT
emoluments paid or payable to the remaining two
individuals were as follows:
2018 2017
—E-NE ZZT—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Basic salaries and allowances EARFH e ROER 2,700 2,700
Discretionary bonus B HRE Z A 225 416
Pension costs-defined contribution plans RIKAKA — FEH KRG E 81 81
3,006 3,197

During the year ended 31st March, 2018, no
emoluments were paid by the Company to any of
the directors or the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group

or as compensation for loss of office (2017: Nil).

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

RZE-NF=ZA=+—HILEEFERN
BERENEESESHIAMALX
N ESERBBEENMARER 2 DK
ERERERUZEE(ZE L5
) o

(g ¥HHMiZMEAHEZD

Number of individuals

AB
2018 2017
—E-N\E —ET—+F
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T &
1,500,000/ JT 1 1

HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000

1,500,001%8 T &

2,000,000 7T 1 1
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11

e M BRRME

Income tax expense 11 FEHREAX
The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until RABERCHPNERENE BEE_F
2035. The Company’s subsidiaries established in the EHEFRIE-RARAREBHEB RSN
British Virgin Islands are incorporated under the WEMRNBAR IR BRBEEBARESRERKRE
International Business Companies Acts of the British BRBDEFEMA L - Eit - B EHNEE %
Virgin Islands and, accordingly, are exempted from British BMRESMEH-
Virgin Islands income taxes.
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of BEBMNEB UMW E165%(Z T — £ F:
16.5% (2017: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit 16.5% ) 1R E 8 18 & 715 2 (51 R BU& A 5+
for the year arising in or derived from Hong Kong. HEE -
The subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC are ERBERZREEZMBARNAFEEER
subject to the PRC Corporate Income Tax at rate of 25% 25% (= F — £ F : 25%) B R G B b3
during the year (2017: 25%). FRi5 & -
The subsidiaries established in Singapore and Malaysia SESIIB S SN N v = N B
are subject to Singapore Corporate Income Tax at a rate MMEEEMB/RBEI7%(ZF — L5
of 17% (2017: 17%) and Malaysia Corporate Income Tax 17% )R ERE P EMEH M K24% (=
at a rate of 24% (2017: 24%) respectively. — 1 24% ) B o
The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated REFEBRRZPNROTIARRE
income statement represents:
2018 2017
ZE-N\F —Z—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FET
Current income tax expense BIER AT 15 B B s2
— Hong Kong profits tax — BENER 4,034 6,004
— PRC Corporate Income Tax — PECERMEH 4,023 8,874
— Overseas Corporate Income Tax — BINCEMED 913 261
(Over)/under provision in prior years BEFEREBHE /TR (7,403) 324
Withholding tax AR — 4,550
1,567 20,013
Deferred income tax (Note 23) EIEFT 5 F (BT 5523)) 3,220 2,564
Income tax expense PGB 4,787 22,577




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11

Income tax expense (Continued)

The tax on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the

consolidated entities as follows:

A M BRRME

11 FriEBim < ()
AEB BB (BE), BMNFAEZHER
EARAKE QR SN2 TR EFE
ZEmeREAMER  AHKROT :

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
(Loss)/profit before income tax M AT (B518) % 7 (49,649) 13,393
Tax calculated at domestic tax rate applicable to BAEBRSDE#ER
profits in the respective countries/jurisdictions FB 7 Rl 2 I 45 B 3 5t
BZMREMH (8,637) 2,176
Tax exemption TIE TR (149) (145)
Income not subject to tax BB RBUA (1,768) (438)
Expenses not deductible for tax ORI 5,604 1,256
Tax benefits BMIFER (1,280) —
Tax losses and other temporary differences for which L FEE R LB = 2
no deferred income tax was recognised FEHE 2 RHERIEL TS
A 17,357 9,326
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses A AEARFER
B EE — (384)
(Over)/under provision in prior years BEFEEE(BE)
T~ (7,403) 324
Withholding tax AR 1,063 10,462
Income tax expense s X 4,787 22,577

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 17.4%
(2017: 16.2%). The change in average tax rate is mainly
caused by changes in the operating results of certain

subsidiaries in Southern China and Eastern China.

BRAZMEFHRE[I74%(ZF— £ F:
162%)  FHAMETNBETIRZEANER L
ERETHBRARZSEXENBEMBERK -
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12

13

e M BRRME

Losses per share 12 BREE
Basic - /N
Basic losses per share is calculated by dividing the BREXREBEEDNRFARRAES AEESR
Group’s loss attributable to the owners of the Company SEEERABSBITEER MEFHBGTE -
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year.
2018 2017
—E-NE ZZT—+F
Loss attributable to the owners of the Company RRAIHEE ANEIEEE
(HK$’000) (T&T) (54,436) (9,184)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue B %77 i@ % 2 04 F 15
('000) 20 (T ) 525,135 525,135
Basic losses per share (HK cents) BREAREREGEWL) (10.37) (1.75)

Diluted

Diluted losses per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
assuming conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. For the year ended 31st March, 2018 and 31st
March, 2017, diluted losses per share equals basic losses

per share as there were no dilutive potential shares.

Dividends

Interim dividend — Nil (2017: HK$0.01) per share

Proposed final dividend — Nil (2017: Nil) per share

13

5

EREIEBOEBEMBIBEINEEY
BRESERE KAES BT T BKR 2 NE
THEHE T -NF=ZA=+—RAKk=
T—+F-A=ZFT-BLFE SREEE
BHRESREREAFE B ETHES0E

PHIRE —F(ZE—+

Bk RHRE —F(2F

ER -
BE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FATT
FgRBED — 5,251
—tF:E) — —
— 5,251

No dividends was paid in 2018 and HK$5,251,000
(HK$0.01 per share) were paid in 2017. The Board of
Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2018 and 2017.

RZE-—NFIBERZFEMBE  M=2F
— % 2 15,251,000% 7T (5 R & &) - 7
—E-N\F=ZA=+—"BRkRZZE—LtFEZ
CEFPNRERPRKE -
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14

Land use rights

The Group's interests in land use rights represent prepaid

operating lease payments.

At Tst April
Amortisation

Translation adjustments

At 31st March

The amortisation expense recognised in

income statement is analysed as follows:

Cost of sales

General and administrative expenses

the consolidated

A M BRRME

14 Tih{EHARE
AEERLTtHEABENERERNKERE
FRIA °

2018 2017

—B-N\F —T—L£F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHExT FET

R A—H 21,346 23,207
(725) (711)
JE N 1,937 (1,150)
R=ZAR=+—H 22,558 21,346
REEERZERPER2EHASL o T -

2018 2017

—B-NFE _—T—+tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

5B B AR 12 11
—BERITEAX 713 700
725 711

131



132

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15

Property, plant and equipment

Year ended 31st March, 2017

Opening net book amount
Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Impairment

Transfers

Translation adjustments

Closing net book amount

At 31st March, 2017

Cost
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March, 2018

Opening net book amount
Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Transfers

Translation adjustments

Closing net book amount

At 31st March, 2018

Cost
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net book amount

BE-_ZT—+tF=A
=+—BHIEFE
FYREFE

NE

e

HE

HL1E

EE

JER AR

FRIREFE

REFERBE

AR E R E

BE_T—N\£=A
=+—BIEFE
FREFE
NE

wE

HE

"z

ER AR

FRIEEFE

R=Z—N\#=A
=+-H

BEN
Rt E RRE

BREDFE

e M BRRME

15 ¥ -BERRE

Furniture

Land and Plant and and Motor Construction
buildings  machinery  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
Tt REF HaE BARRE AE ERIR Mot
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
160,685 182,531 13,605 4,856 3,794 365,471
3,479 37,598 9,552 3,608 5116 59,353
(9,927) (38,481) (4,262) (1,488) — (54,158)
— (5,771) 91) (78) (1,413) (7,353)
— (10,000) — — — (10,000)
859 1,785 (3) — (2,641) —
(8,098) (7,844) (545) (191) (275) (16,953)
146,998 159,818 18,256 6,707 4,581 336,360
248,526 938,876 79,504 19,033 4,581 1,290,520
(101,528) (779,058) (61,248) (12,326) — (954,160)
146,998 159,818 18,256 6,707 4,581 336,360
146,998 159,818 18,256 6,707 4,581 336,360
4,009 35,090 8,898 1,849 2,294 52,140
(9,153) (36,834) (5,454) (1,816) — (53,257)
(2,548) (572) (202) (131) — (3,453)
21 2,642 97 93 (2,853) —
12,199 12,539 1,315 299 522 26,874
151,526 172,683 22,910 7,001 4,544 358,664
266,572 1,022,623 91,102 19,388 4,544 1,404,229
(115,046) (849,940) (68,192) (12,387) —  (1,045,565)
151,526 172,683 22,910 7,001 4,544 358,664




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(a)

Depreciation expense recognised in the
consolidated income statement is analysed as

follows:

Cost of sales & R A
Selling and distribution costs HERDHE D
General and administrative expenses — R RATHER X

Construction in progress mainly represents factories
and office buildings under construction and plant

and machinery under installation in the PRC.

At 31st March, 2018, land and buildings with a
total net book value of approximately
HK$2,764,000 (2017: HK$2,889,000) were pledged
as collateral for the Group’s banking facilities (Note
29).

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and

land use rights

The value of property, plant and equipment and
land use rights is assessed at the end of each
reporting period for indications of impairment with
reference to evaluation undertaken by management.
Such evaluation assesses the recoverable amount of
each asset being the higher of its value in use or
its fair value less costs of disposal. As at 31st
March, 2018, management performed two separate
impairment assessments for the eastern China

operation and southern China operation.

A M BRRME

15 Y% -BERRE (E)

(a)

REAKSRTRRZ FENS S
m

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHETT
46,870 48,250

330 334

6,057 5,574
53,257 54,158

EETRIZHRAETEREZTOME L
MAERBFMLEPAHES -

RZE—N\EFE=ZA=Z+—H EAFE
#92,764,000% w(=Z T — + F:
2,889,000/ Jt) 2 1+ #h 18 F A EAR &
ERTTEE B2 WE IR (M E29)

ME - BB N AR A K (A 2O
(=1

ME - BERXBAR L BEREZE
ERNEREERBZEERBEMETZ
AEAFEETREDR - BT ER
HREEZAROEE NEEREE
FEARBERLEREAZREE - R
“E-NF=ZA=t+—B EBBEEDH
FRERES N EREBETRER G -
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15 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
land use rights (Continued)

Eastern China operation

An impairment loss of HK$10 million was made in
2017 for certain equipment used in eastern China
operation (“eastern China PP&E”) and had been
recognised in the consolidated income statement.
As at 31st March, 2018, the carrying amount net of
impairment of the property, plant and equipment
and land use rights in eastern China operation was
HK$77.0 million (2017: HK$56 million), no further

impairment loss has incurred.

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable
amount of eastern China PP&E and land use rights

are as follows:

Sales growth rate in 2019: 3%
Sales growth rate from 2020 to 2023: 3%-5%
Pre-tax discount rate: 13%

Changing the discount rates and other assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the growth rates assumption in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amount. At 31st March, 2018, if sales
growth rates for each of the year had been 1%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of eastern
China PP&E and land use rights would have been
HK$15.2 million lower. Accordingly, the shortfall
compared with the carrying amount of Eastern
China PP&E and land use rights would have been
HK$8.6 million.

If the discount rate had been 1% higher than
management estimate at 31st March, 2018 with all
other variables held constant, value-in-use of
eastern China PP&E and land use rights would
have been HK$12.9 million lower. Accordingly, the
shortfall compared with the carrying amount of
eastern China PP&E and land use rights would
have been HK$6.2 million.

e M BRRME

15

¥ BERZREE

(d)

W BB R A R L i A 2R
1B (&)

EREK
R-B—tFEREREBMERZET
RETERDE BEEREDELR
EERREE-TEEL TEREAWR
BRITER - R -_ZE-NF=ZA=+—
B ZEREBZUVE BERKBEUR
THERERERZEEERLETER
EET(ZE-—LEF ATABEE
JT) - I EAEREINREEE -

FIEERYE BB RRBA R ME
Az AT KB EEBEMRER 2 E2RRIZN
T

ZE-NFZHEHEERE 3%
—EEFE T =ZF2 3%—5%
HEHBRX

BB BT AL IR & - 13%

HEERERFERERMMERZMR
ERpEMBRR(EEREREBEN 2 E
EERBARNBZEATRREE X
TE-NF=ZA=t+t—B MEFEZ
HERREXREBE 2@ EE1%M A
BHBERRENE AERDE K
EEREAR L ERE 2 ERBEER
MO—THBE-_+&8BT-EL - HE
ROE BELRREARLMEREZ
REEMRLZERESRNBRT8E

JC °

M RERERBER T N\F=A
=t—BzEES%MME K MEHR
RETE AIERYE  BELREN
Ltk mEzeBEHESRD
—TZBATERT Bt BHERY
¥ BEERBARTHEREZE®R
ERLZERESRNB-_TBET-
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15 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
land use rights (Continued)

Southern China operation

As at 3Tst March, 2018, the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment and land use rights
in southern China operation (“southern China PP&E
and land use rights”) was HK$251.1 million (2017:
HK$249.3 million) and no impairment provision

was incurred.

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable
amount of the southern China PP&E and land use

rights are as follows:

Sales growth rate in 2019: 3%
Sales growth rate from 2020 to 2023: 3%-5%
Pre-tax discount rate: 13%

Changing the discount rates and other assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the growth rates assumption in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amount. At 31st March, 2018, if sales
growth rates for each of the year had been 1%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of
southern China PP&E and land use rights would
have been HK$70.6 million lower. Accordingly, the
surplus compared with the carrying amount of
southern China PP&E and land use rights would

have been HK$8.2 million.

If the discount rate had been 1% higher than
management estimate at 31st March, 2018 with all
other variables held constant, value-in-use of
southern China PP&E and land use rights would
have been HK$44.8 million lower. Accordingly, the
surplus compared with the carrying amount of
southern China PP&E and land use rights would
have been HK$34.1 million.

A M BRRME
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¥ BERRE(E

(d)

M BB RER A K i A 2R
1B (&)

EHEHK
RZE-NF=ZA=+—"REBEBZ
W - BB N R A B ot R AR (T3
AME BERRXKBARLERED
ZEHER-_EAT A tEBLZ(Z
E—tF: _EOTAB=1T8ET) "
A 45 FE SRR (B B A

A ERYE BERRXEAL LE
Az MK EEEMRER EERZNM
T

ZE-NFIHEEREE: 3%
ZETEFET=F2 3%-5%
HELRE

BREBIATAE IR & - 13%

WEEIEERFERERTER 2R
EREMBR(BFERRER D ZE
EXBRRDARNEZETKOEE- R
“TE-NF=ZA=+—H ®MEFEZ
HERRETREEE 2EEE1%M A
BHOBEHERIFAE REFVE K
FERREHEAR L ERE 2 EREES
MALETERTEET  Hit - HER
ME BB RBREAR T EBEZER
EERLZEREERNB_TEET -

MM REREEERN_T—-N\F=A
=t—RBzEES1%MMEEMER
REFETE  NEEVE BERREA
RtmEREZEZREER R D
MFEBAENTEBT Bt - EBEHY
X BEAREARLEREZRRT
ERLZEREHER=ZTHA - T8%
T o
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16

Subsidiaries

Particulars of principal subsidiaries as at 31st March,

2018:

Name of company

DEEH

Starlite International (Holdings) Ltd.

Starlite Printers Holdings Cook Islands Limited

Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte. Ltd.

Starlite Printers (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

Everfar Holdings Limited

Starlite Visual Communication Limited
EREBEEERAA

Star Union Limited
EBRERAA

Starlite Consumer Products, Limited

Starlite Entertainment (Holdings) Limited

Starlite Laser Graphics Limited

EEBRHFOIBHERAQF

Starlite Management Services Limited

Starlite Packaging Technology Consultancy
Limited

Starlite Development International Limited
ERBEREBERAA
Starlite Paper Products Limited

EEARBRAA

Place of incorporation

and/or operations

AR,

British Virgin Islands

Cook Islands

MRS
Singapore

N

Malaysia

R

British Virgin Islands
Hong Kong

2

Hong Kong
o

British Virgin Islands
RBEARES

British Virgin Islands

Hong Kong
G

Hong Kong

2

British Virgin Islands
HBEBRES

Hong Kong

e
Hong Kong/the PRC
EE

e M BRRME

16 KMiEBRAA

—NF=ZA=+—HB FENEAR

2R

Issued and
fully paid

Us$2
2% T

US$200
2003 7T

SGD8,759,396

8,759,396
T

RM6,500,000

6,500,000
BREIETT

US$20,000
20,0003 7T

HK$2,000,000
2,000,000 7T

HK$2
28T

Us$1
1% 7T

Us$1
1%

HK$3,230,000
ordinary
3,230,000/ JT
AR

HK$170,000
non-voting
deferred (i)

170,0007%8 7T

mR R
I HE B A (i)

HK$200
2007 7T
US$1
1%7T

HK$200
2007 7T

HK$1,738,000
ordinary
1,738,000/ 7T
&R AR 1D

HK$262,000
non-voting
deferred (i)

262,000/ 7T

mIERE
B HE B AR (i)

Percentage of equity

interest held

FiEREED
Directly Indirectly
=1 e
100% —
100% —
100% —
100% —
50% 50%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%

Principal activities

EEEH

Investment holding

BRERER

Investment holding

REERR

Printing of packaging
materials

B KR

Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products

B R EN R R AR A E

Investment holding

REER

Distribution of Team
Green Products

% $4Team GreenZE

Inactive

A ER

Investment holding

REREK

Investment holding

REZER
Inactive

[EE=REES

Provision of management

services

REEERS

Holding of trade and
service marks

HAEES LRBEE

Trading of paper products

HEHRES
Inactive

AR

5
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16

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

DEEE

Starlite Printers Limited

EXERIBR A

Starlite Printers HK Holdings (BVI) Limited
Starlite Printers (China) Limited
EXER (FBE)BERAA

Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (ii)

E X ENRI CRID B R 2 FGi)

Starlite Printers (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (ii)

2 Y ENRI (B M) B IR 2 & Gi)

Starlite Productions (Holdings) Limited

Starlite Productions (BVI) Limited

Starlite Productions Limited

EXEIEBRAR

Guangzhou Starlite Environmental Friendly
Center, Limited (ii)

BB IRR B OB R A R

Greenworks International Limited

HEIREBERLQRE

Shaoguan Fortune Creative Industries Company

Limited (ii)

MBERBA BT EARRFG)

Larsemann Intelligence System (Hong Kong)
Limited
TS B R (BE)ARAA

Place of incorporation
and/or operations

FEM AL R SR B B

Hong Kong

ik

British Virgin Islands
REERARES

British Virgin Islands
REERARES

The PRC

T

The PRC

il
British Virgin Islands

British Virgin Islands

Hong Kong
)

The PRC

E

Hong Kong

&t

The PRC

FE

Hong Kong

i

A M BRRME

16 K E2QR (&)

Issued and
fully paid
capital/paid-in
capital
BRITR
BRERE
BHRAE

HK$2,700,000
ordinary
2,700,000/ 7T
ERBEN
HK$2,300,000
non-voting
deferred (i)
2,300,000/ 7T
BIRRE

iR E AR (1)

US$1
17T

US$100
1003 7T

US$8,000,000

8,000,000% 7T

US$20,000,000

20,000,000 JT.

US$1
1%7T

US$256,420
256,420% 70

HK$3,000,000
3,000,000/ 7T

US$6,000,000

6,000,0003% 7T

HK$2

US$11,500,000

11,500,000% 7T

HK$10,000

10,0007 7T

Percentage of equity
interest held

FiERET DL
Directly Indirectly
HE [CF:3

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

Principal activities

ETEEK

Trading of packaging
materials

BERMHMES

Investment holding

BE R

Investment holding

BE R

Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products

BLE M BEN R B
HmEE

Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products and labels

BEMBENR R ARG R
BREE

Investment holding

BEER

Investment holding

BEER

Inactive

) % 1F %

Production of
environmental friendly
and other paper
products

EERRRE
Ht 4R E M

Investment holding and
trading of
environmental friendly
and other paper
products

BREERRIBREEAM
MEERED

Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products

BRI ENR &% 4K @ &
E

Investment holding

- g2dily
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16

17

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

Place of incorporation
and/or operations

DEEE FEM AL R SR B B
Team Green (Far East) Pte. Ltd. Singapore
o0

Qianhai Larsemann Intelligence System The PRC

(Shenzhen) Limited (ii)
A8 A AT 2 4 88 R 48 ORI B R 2 R &
Shenzhen TeamGreen Creative Design The PRC

Co., Ltd (ii)
R B A B R EH AR ARG =]
Notes:
(i) The non-voting deferred shares are not owned by the Group. These

shares have no voting rights and are not entitled to dividends unless
the net profit of the relevant company exceeds HK$50,000,000,000
and are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a
sum of HK$50,000,000,000 has been distributed by the relevant
company to the holders of its ordinary shares.

(i) English names are for identification purpose. These subsidiaries were
incorporated as Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise (“WFOE”) in PRC.

(iii) None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time
during the year ended 31st March, 2018 (2017: Nil).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets

— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong,

at fair value

— Unlisted insurance policy investment,

at fair value

A 4

e M BRRME

16 K &R (&)

Issued and
fully paid
capital/paid-in Percentage of equity
capital interest held Principal activities

BRITR

BRERE
BHRAE FiERET DL ETEEK

Directly Indirectly

HE [CF:3
SGD1 — 100% Trading of Team Green
products
137 A3 7T Team GreenfE @& 5
RMBS5,000,000 — 100% Trading and
manufacturing of
machinery and
automated equipment
AR STEREERSRADY
5,000,000 L&t
RMB500,000 — 100% Trading of Team Green
products
A R #500,000 Team GreenZE & 5

G

(i) IHEERZRETCROIFAREEES - HFR
MAEREZR - BRIEEBRRAR ZMFEB
50,000,000,000 7T * BRI B AEEZHRE W
BRMARERE  TERZEEMSR RIFFHEA
A1) AR AR R A H 2 9k # £]50,000,000,00078 7T ©

(i) RXABRAUERAE HEHNBARNRPEMKL
ZHmBARCE(IEBERED -

(iii) MEMBRARRBEZE-_Z—NF=ZA=+—HILF
EREAKHEERTEEER(CT—tF : 8) -

17 AHHESREE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
HK$000 HK$000
FET FHET
HESHEE

— REBEFELMRERE
5 LAAAREEYE 1,890 1,723

— FETHRBIRER
B DAnEEIE 12,800 8,913

14,690 10,636
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17 Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)
Movement of the available-for-sale financial assets is as

follows:

A M BRRME

17 AHHESREE (&)
AHHESRMEEZEBHOT

2018 2017

—B-N\F —E—tF

HK$000 HK$000

FTHER TR

As at 1st April REA—H 10,636 10,356

Additions # 0 3,522 —
Revaluation gains recognised in investment RIRE R ERERE

revaluation reserve B 532 280

As at 31st March R=ZAR=+—H 14,690 10,636

Available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in the

following currencies:

Us$ ET
HKS$ T

The fair values of unlisted insurance policy investment
are based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on
the current credit rate of the insurance policies (2018:
3.9%; 2017: 3.9%). The fair values are within level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy (Note 3.3).

None of these financial assets is either past due or

impaired.

AHEEeRMEEATIERSIE:

2018 2017
—g-\& -—T—t&
HK$000 HK$000
FET FHET
12,800 8,913
1,890 1,723
14,690 10,636

FETHRBRELENALEBEERREAR
SIREBEOMHEAELEFERRESR - (=
T-NF:13.9%;: ZF—EF:3.9%) AR
BEEAAAEBEEENE=RR (HE3.3)-

HEERAEEYEBHHNCHE-
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18

e M BRRME

Inventories 18 ®FE
2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET
Raw materials R 66,993 60,739
Work in progress 8 37,278 25,451
Finished goods HRK 42,544 31,917
146,815 118,107

The cost of inventories expensed and included in cost of
to HK$725,688,000 (2017:
HK$633,587,000). During the year, the Group has
provided for inventory obsolescence of approximately
HK$991,000 (2017: HK$933,000), which was included in
cost of sales and as at 31st March, 2018, the amount of
provision was HK$24,471,000 (2017: HK$23,355,000).

sales amounted

As at 31st March, 2018, there were floating charges over
certain of the Group’s inventories of approximately
HK$7,595,000 (2017: HK$8,501,000) to secure the trust

receipts import bank loan arrangements (Note 29).

FEKRAKAA H 47256880008 Tt(ZF—+
% : 633,587,000/ 7T) 51 1F F 2 30 51 A 856 K
Rep o WARFERN AEEBBEERERE
#9991,000/%8 L (= F — 4+ 4 : 933,000 Jr) °
HEBEEIABEERAP KT —\F=
A=+—H "  ###%% /24,471,000% 7T (=

T —+t 4 23,355,000/8 7T) ©

RZE—-NFE=ZA=+—RB KEEHE
7,595,000/ JL (= & — + £ : 8,501,000/ Jr)
CHEERERREEORTERTHIELAR

¥ (M 7529) -
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Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and

deposits

Trade receivables

Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables

Trade receivables — net

Bill receivables

Trade and bill receivables

Prepayments and deposits

The carrying amounts of trade and bill receivables,

prepayments and deposits approximate their fair values.

The Group grants to its customers credit terms generally

ranging from 30 to 120 days. The ageing of trade and bill

receivables by invoice date is as follows:

1 to 90 days

91 to 180 days

181 to 365 days
Over 365 days

®BE

B 5 W IR

BB SRR SORE A

B KRR — F8

e W R 4

B 5 RWER L RE

BN FIER RS

A M BRRME

19 BEZRUERRERE BAARER

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FATT
248,957 252,424
(10,755) (8,299)
238,202 244,125
124 —
238,326 244,125
31,058 26,905
269,384 271,030

HEAQARSRERA(EE-

o

&
=
=7

sy
pm]
-

1290k

91E180K
181E365K
B iE365K

BEZRWRERLZRE BARELRENHEK

B4 FEEEER B AI0KEIRT
BESRWEREZHE2EREK(GZEEZA)

2018 2017
—E-N\#F T tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
198,831 199,580
28,150 34,708
9,223 5,926
12,877 12,210
249,081 252,424
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19

Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and 19
deposits (Continued)

As at 31st March, 2018, trade and bill receivables of
HK$178,005,000 (2017: HK$198,146,000) were fully
performing. HK$60,321,000 (2017: HK$45,979,000) were

past due but not considered impaired, of which
HK$50,783,000 (2017: HK$35,598,000) were overdue less

than 90 days and HK$9,538,000 (2017: HK$10,381,000)

was overdue more than 90 days. These relate to a
number of independent customers for whom there is no
recent history of default. Trade receivables of
HK$10,755,000 (2017: HK$8,299,000) were considered
impaired and fully provided for. The amount of the
provision was HK$10,755,000 as at 31st March, 2018
(2017: HK$8,299,000).

The Group's trade and bill receivables were denominated

in the following currencies:

HK$ BT
us$ e
RMB AR
SGD N3 TT
RM BREETT
Others H Aty

e M BRRME

ESEWRRREE BAARER
& ()

RZZE—NFE=ZRA=+—8B EHEKRER
178,005,0007% 7T (= F — £ 4F : 198,146,000/%
o) B2 S E T 60,321,000 (=
—+ % : 45,979,000% 7T) B @ BB R A2 B R
B H & B $550,783,0008 L (ZF —+ F -
35,598,000% JT) 2 @& H 4 ook B Hb
9,538,000/ 7L (= £ — + % : 10,381,000/ 7T.)
B EA90K LA £+ £ all FRIE S K3 HA G AR 4 K A2
B E2E2BIEP -85 EWIERK0,755,000
B (ZF —+ 4 8,299,000/ 7r) H 3 R E &
CEHELEE R N\F=A=+—
A - k& # % AB10,7550008 0 (Z 2 —+
F : 8,299,000 7T) °

REBZEZREEREFZBEATINEETIE

2018 2017
—2-N\FE —TtF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
30,745 52,499
145,894 130,937
40,677 32,278
11,749 19,545
10,854 8,970
9,162 8,195
249,081 252,424
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19

Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and

deposits (Continued)
Movements in the provision for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

2018 2017

—E-NE —EZ—LF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

As at Tst April R A—A 8,299 12,608
Provision/(write-back of provision) for impairment g5 RKETRERE,

of trade receivables (BB #) 2,196 (3,119)
Receivables written off during the year F AR E 2 FE KR K

as uncollectible S (345) (897)

Translation adjustment JE XA 605 (293)

As at 31st March R=ZAR=+—H 10,755 8,299

The creation and release of the provision for impairment
of trade receivables have been included in general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated income

statement.

The other classes within trade receivables, prepayments

and deposits do not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the fair value of each class of receivables
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral

as security.

A M BRRME 143

EZRUERRRERE BAAHRER
7< (&)
BSEURTOREREZ B MT

BHRBEFREREROBEHE RN GEE R
BR-BEITEE P AR-

REZEKESR BNREREZSTHEM
BHYABHREREEE -

RfEALAEREREINERSEERR
BEREAABE AEEXRAFTEEMM
B -
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20 Bank balances and cash

20 ROTEERES

2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Non-current FERE
Long-term bank deposit (Note a) RAESRIT AR (Fif5Ta) 1,312 —
Current w8
Cash at bank and in hand (Note b) BITRFEES (HaEb) 291,624 250,334
Short-term bank deposits (Note b) SHISR 1T IR (Bt %D ) 22,609 —
Cash and cash equivalents RehBeFE 314,233 250,334
Bank deposits with maturity over 3 months from date FBFR H B E#EiE =&
of deposits ARHZRITHER 15,165 14,106
329,398 264,440
Total bank balance and cash BITERRESBE 330,710 264,440
Maximum exposure to credit risk BEefEERRK 330,178 263,968
Notes: Bt 3
(a) The long-term bank deposit was pledged to a bank in securing an (a) EHROTFREERT - RRTUERFEHEA
export license in the PRC. It bears an average interest rate of 2.25% A HFHMERFR2DERER T _TF
per annum and will be matured in 2020. B -
(b) As at 31st March, 2018, the effective interest rate on cash at bank, (b) RZE—N\FE=ZA=+—8 807X SHETHF

short-term bank deposits was 0.6677% (2017: 0.3813%). The short-
term bank deposits had an average maturity of 3 months as at 31st

March, 2018 (2017: 6 months).

K2 EWRFNERABF B0.6677B(ZF —t 4 :0.3813
E) hERERTEIR-_ZT-N\F=A=+—H

FHEBHAREAR(ZF—LF 6l A)-
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20 Bank balances and cash (Continued) 20 HBITHEEFERBES (E)
Bank balances and cash were denominated in the RITHRFERRESIEATEEIE :

following currencies:

2018 2017

—EB-N\F —E—tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET TET

HK$ BT 111,113 68,443

RMB AR 81,545 77,418

uUs$ ET 81,795 63,222

Euro BX 7T 14,565 11,388

SGD DIk 33,712 29,629

Others Hit 7,980 14,340

330,710 264,440

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in TEEULARBIEBEZHE 2 RRE2EED

RMB of approximately HK$80,309,000 (2017: 80,309,000/ 7T (= & — £ 4 : 475,587,000/

approximately HK$75,587,000) are deposited with banks THEFERRPEZRIT - S AREIE &

in the PRC. The conversion of these RMB denominated BRBMERIINERELPEHEIPEARKEM
balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of BB AT AR 2 SNEE BIAR A R R PIEE -

funds out of the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange
control rules and regulations promulgated by the
Government of The People’s Republic of China.
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20

21

Bank balances and cash (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the

purposes of the statement of cash flows:

Cash at bank and in hand
Short-term bank deposits

Borrowings

Long-term bank loans
Short-term bank loans

Trust receipts import bank loans

Less: amounts due on demand or

within one year shown under current liabilities

Non-current portion

20 RITHEFRRE (B

ReRERTNRASLASFERRE T

2018 2017
—B-NF T +%

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHERT FET

HITRFERAS 291,624 250,334
SEEEEeREE 22,609 —
314,233 250,334

21 ®WE

2018 2017

—E-NFE Z—ZZET—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHERT FET

RERITER 208,698 161,617
EEETER 33,750 15,805
ERUEEDRITER 7,595 8,501
250,043 185,923

WA RBAGBZ

—FANEHRE (139,674) (113,466)
JEBHA S 15 110,369 72,457
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21

Borrowings (Continued)

At 31st March, 2018, the Group’s borrowings were

repayable as follows:

Within 1 year
Between 1 and 2 years

Between 2 and 5 years

The above amounts due are based on the scheduled

repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and

ignore the effect of any repayment on demand clause.

Total borrowings include secured liabilities. Details of the

banking facilities to the Group and pledge of assets are

disclosed in Note 29.

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate

changes and the contractual repricing dates at the end of

the year are as follows:

6 months or less
Within 1 year

A M BRRME

21 @EE)
RZE—NF=ZA=Z=+—"H AEEZHE
pANE-S- UM
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FET
—F R 136,861 93,138
—E=-F 55,920 62,517
—ERF 57,262 30,268
250,043 185,923
TR RBEBZEHBARREERANFELE
EZERBH RUTEZEERERKEEEKENK
TR
MELBLRCEREBE AKEBEMERTE
BEREEHBROEFEERWFH29FRHE -
AEECHERFRETRENREN RS
BRAEHEFTFERBENOT
2018 2017
—E-N\F e
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiExT FET
~E A kAR 231,298 174,634
—F LR 18,745 11,289

250,043 185,923
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e M BRRME

21 Borrowings (Continued) 21 ®E (&)
The carrying amounts of bank borrowings were BITMEZREBENEUATERSE:
denominated in the following currencies:
2018 2017
—B-N\F —T—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAET
HK$ BT 215,034 159,861
RMB AR 33,742 15,805
Us$ ETT 1,267 2,579
RM BT — 7,678
250,043 185,923
The effective interest rates (per annum) at the end of RBMEBRBZAEXFMEDT
reporting period were as follows:
2018 2017
—2-ng —Ets
HK$ RMB us$ RM HK$ RMB uss$ RM
BT AR EY B BT AR EH BT
Long-term bank loans RERITE R 3.70% — — —  3.19% — —  4.55%
Short-term bank loans EHIRITE R —  471% — — —  4.69% — —
Trust receipts import bank loans fFREWIRE DRITEX 5.25% —  5.25% —  525% —  525% —
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22

Trade and bill payables

Trade payables
Bill payables

The ageing analysis of trade and bill payables is as

follows:

1 to 90 days

91 to 180 days

181 to 365 days
Over 365 days

A M BRRME

22 BSZEMNAERIRREE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
2 AR 183,428 131,093
e RIE 1,184 245
184,612 131,338

BORNERLREEERER>TOT :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
1290k 166,262 117,185
91E180K 11,019 6,844
181E365K 639 365
B iE365K 6,692 6,944
184,612 131,338

149



150

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22

23

Trade and bill payables (Continued)

The Group’s trade and bill payables were denominated in

the following currencies:

HK$
RMB
Us$
RM
Others

Deferred income tax

The analysis of deferred tax assets

liabilities is as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities, net

and deferred tax

22 BEZENERAKRREE(E)
REE 2B SRR REA T EBTIE -

e M BRRME

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHERT FA&T

BT 37,285 37,201
AR 129,867 78,847
ETT 1,891 915
BARAEETT 11,183 9,485
Efth 4,386 4,890
184,612 131,338

23 EEFEBHR

BEMSHEENREMSHRE G DT

T :
2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

BELEMEMEE 3,818 5,620
BRIEFTSEHRBE (7,260) (6,264)
BEEMGHRAaE — F58 (3,442) (644)
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23

Deferred income tax (Continued)

A M BRRME

23 EEFEH ()

The net movements in the deferred tax account are as EEMSRFEZEHFBOT
follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
As at Tst April mEA—A (644) 2,253
Charged to the consolidated income statement PR AW R ()
(Note 11) (3,220) (2,564)
Translation adjustments E 422 (333)
As at 31st March R=ZAR=+—H (3,442) (644)

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
without taking into consideration the offsetting of

balances within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:

BEMGHAEAEREBEZEZH (L RTERR

—EBERz ERRIEE) MT

Deferred tax assets: REFMSMEE :
Provisions Tax losses Total
BE REER maE
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
ZE-N\F —ZT—+tF ZB-NF —“ZT—+tF ZB-NF —ZT—+tF
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET FHER FHET
As at 1st April RmA—8 3,625 2,264 5,262 3,369 8,887 5,633
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated —F#R& Wz & &
income statement (308 FFA (339) 1,361 (2,848) 2,226 (3,187) 3,587
Translation adjustments ERAE 275 — 156 (333) 431 (333)
As at 31st March R=A=+—8 3,561 3,625 2,570 5,262 6,131 8,887
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23

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities:

e M BRRME

23 EEFTEH ()
EEMBHARE:

Accelerated taxation

Withholding Tax depreciation Total

FARH R B E TR wmaE
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZT—+tF ZB-NF —_T—+tF ZB-NF —ZT—+tF
HK$/000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET FET FET
As at 1st April RmA—8 5,968 — 3,563 3,380 9,531 3,380

Charged/(credited) to the consolidated — F 45 & U & &

income statement ek GEA) 1,063 5,968 (1,029) 183 34 6,151
Translation adjustments ERAE — — 8 — 8 —
As at 31st March R=RA=+—8 7,031 5,968 2,542 3,563 9,573 9,531

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss to
the extent that the reduction of the related tax benefit

through future taxable profits is payable.

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of
approximately HK$28,820,000 (2017: HK$13,177,000) in
respect of tax losses and deductible temporary differences
as it is not probable that the deferred tax assets can be
utilised. Out of the total, approximately HK$17,774,000
(2017: HK$9,013,000) in respect of tax losses that can be
carried forward indefinitely to set off against future
taxable income and the remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$6,883,000 (2017: HK$379,000) will
expire in 2018 to 2022 (2017: 2017 to 2021). The
estimated tax losses are subject to approval by the

relevant tax authorities.

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued
on 6th December, 2007, withholding income tax of 10%
shall be

companies established

levied on the dividends remitted by the
in the PRC to their foreign
2008. A

withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax

investors starting from 1st January, lower
treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. All dividends coming from the profits generated
by the PRC entities after Tst January, 2008 shall be

subject to this withholding income tax.

%7 T 4B R B 1 B R B P 2 R 5 B B OR
R 205 - B 3 4 88 BB A5 1R 32 0E IE A 49
BAEE-

RELCHEHEETERER A£EIL K
BRAEBRBEEBERUNBAENEZENE
WEFT1B B E E #928,820,00008 T (Z T — L4 ¢
13,177,000/ JT) - B 88 & - T 7% & 8 4
17,774,000 7T (=& — £ 4 : 9,013,000/ 7T)
AR AU ERRERBTRA - H
# B 75 85 18 496,883,000/ 7T (= T — + F ¢
379,000 L) B ER —_T—N\FE2_FT ==
FEam T2 —tF T tFE-_T=-—
F) EAREEBIAREEREEREKES
B EHE o

RE-_ZZLFT_RARNAEBNTREAR
HMBECERSEBEBERGI  R_FZN
F-—A—HFEH FAMARPEKRLNEEY
FHMREE D KBS ABKI0%TEREFTER
an R B EEL B SR B T 0 B B M (R RR AT S 1R
B —ERENERASHEEEER-FH
RHABRIHCESR-_ZTZENF-H—H
BEMEA T EORS AU TARMAEH
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24  Share capital

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:

As at Tst April, 2016, 31st March, 2017 and
31st March, 2018

mEMBRRME

24 B
2018 2017
—E-N\¥ —E—tF
Number Number
of shares of shares
BH#E PG g
‘000 HK$000 ‘000 HK$'000
T’ THERT T % FHET
EERA
SREEI0ETT L
Bk 1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000

Tk 2RTRDAR:

Number of
shares  Share capital
R4 BB B A
HK$’000
FET
RZE—A"FHA—H"

ZE—+tF=ZA=+—HK

—T-N\F=ZA=+—H 525,135,288 52,514
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25

Employee share options

On 15th August, 2012, the Company adopted an
employee share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) to replace the old share option scheme adopted
on 6th September, 2002. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the Company may grant options to employees
(including Executive Directors and Non-Executive
Directors (excluding Independent Non-Executive Directors)
of the Company) to subscribe for shares in the Company,
subject to a maximum of 30% of the nominal value of
the issued share capital of the Company from time to
time excluding for this purpose any shares issued on the
exercise of options. The exercise price will be determined
by the Company’s board of directors and shall be at least
the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant of the options, (ii) an average
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
options, and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares of HK$0.1 each. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options

in cash.

No share option was granted during the years ended 31st
March, 2018 and 2017.
outstanding as at 31st March, 2018 and 2017.

No share options were

e M BRRME

25

EBERRE

RZE—ZFNATHB  ARAEFN—E
ERRETE(ERESEDURRAR_Z
T_FNAAABEMACEBERESS - RIE
BREFES AR AAMEI(BEARAIZH
TESERIERTES (TREBUIFNTES))
BREERENRERRARRG mal T2
BOBEZARARATHERITRG Z
30% - BENETEATEEREMZTZRMD -
REEBBAARAZEEREE  EPTER
NT=ZBEz&®E  (RKXEBBEERQAKRNG
Z W E (AR A ARG R BB B E AT
FEZEERZRMDTFHWRTE: RGiNAR A
Mz mE (BRI L) o AN & B I &5
TERHETEETLEKAR ST SERAE -

RZE-—NERZZT—tF=R=+—8I1
FEAN UERLEMBERE R_Z2—-N\F
R-Z—tF=ZA=1+—RABEHRITEHN
FE A
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26 Reserves

As at st April, 2016

Comprehensive income

Loss attributable to the owners of
the Company

Other comprehensive income

Increase in fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets

Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive loss for the
year

Transactions with the owners in

their capacity as owners
Transfer to statutory reserve
Dividends paid

As at 31st March, 2017

As at 31st March, 2017 and
st April, 2017

Comprehensive income

Loss attributable to the owners of
the Company

Other comprehensive income

Increase in fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets

Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive loss for the
year

Transactions with the owners in
their capacity as owners
Transfer to statutory reserve

As at 31st March, 2018

Note:

A M BRRME

26 f#fE
Share Capital  Statutory Investment Translation  Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
RORE BARE EEHE REHE EXHE KRBEERA e
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FERT FHET FAET FHET FHET FHERT FHERT
(Note)
(B 3%)
R-ZZT—X&EMA—A 127,796 1,792 — 1,552 50,113 356,066 537,319
2E K E
AATEA NG EE
— — — — — (9,184) (9,184)
Hit2mEkE
AMHESHEEY
DA EEZM — — — 280 — — 280
ERER — — — — (23,904) — (23,904)
FRE2EEHRLE
— — — 280 (23,904) (9,184)  (32,808)
BEEAUEEAZHD
x5
BB ELATEREB — — 12,160 — — (12,160) —
B RS — — — — — (13,128)  (13,128)
— — 12,160 280 (23,904)  (34,472)  (45,936)
R_ZT—+tF
=ZA=+—8 127,796 1,792 12,160 1,832 26,209 321,594 491,383
RZT—tF=A=+—8
R-ZT—+FmA—A 127,796 1,792 12,160 1,832 26,209 321,594 491,383
2HKE
KRAREA AELEE
— — — — — (54,436)  (54,436)
HAth 2 H K
AHHESHMEEY
AR EEGM — — - 532 - — 532
ERER — — — — 42,815 — 42,815
FREZEFBLE
— — — 532 42,815 (54,436)  (11,089)
BEAUEEAZHH
x5
HEEATEHE — — 1,299 — — (1,299) —
— — 1,299 532 42,815 (55,735)  (11,089)
RZT—\F
ZA=+—8 127,796 1,792 13,459 2,364 69,024 265,859 480,294

As stipulated by the relevant PRC laws and regulations applicable to

the Company’s subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC, the

subsidiaries are required to make appropriation from profit after tax

(after offsetting prior years’ losses) to statutory reserve. The PRC
entities are required to transfer at least 10% of its net profit as
determined under the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to their

statutory reserve. The appropriations to the statutory reserve are

required until the balance reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered

capital. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior year

losses or be utilised for issuance of bonus shares. The Company’s
PRC subsidiaries are restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of
their reserve either in the form of dividends, loans or advances.

GEE

BERARA QAR B RAEE DM ERQ RS

BUAGIREIRIRE - MEMBATFmBRBREET (B
EHUANFENBRDREAERB - HEPEL
ERBTENESFRUAREREREL FANEZ
0% ZEEERE BEEDREEATREENE QA
B 5E Ml & AR #950% © 1t 50K E AR R A 3 A BT A
ERBE LA A BEITA - AR R R B KB

NEARSE - fEES

(i =h

SR D IR S0 R FZRG -
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27 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash
flows

@) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before income tax to

e M BRRME

27 HEBREREXRME

@ BB UBE) CEFEEEEBEER

cash generated from operations: 2Bk
2018 2017
—E-NE ZT—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TET
(Loss)/profit before income tax B AT (ER) (49,649) 13,393
Adjustments for: KT
— Interest income — FEU A (443) (350)
— Interest expense — FEXH 7,813 7,579
— Amortisation of land use rights (Note 14) — b {6 AR BE 5H
(KfaE14) 725 711
— Depreciation of property, plant and — V¥ BERREBZ
equipment (Note 15) e (MeE15) 53,257 54,158
— Losses on disposals of property, plant and — HEWE - BE &
equipment (Note 27(b)) BB EE
(BF 5527(0)) 2,854 4,569
— Provision/(write-back of provision) for — B RWRFRER
impairment of trade receivables %,/ (B E B &) 2,196 (3,119
— Provision for inventory obsolescence — REFEREREEB 991 933
— Provision for impairment of property, — WE BEREREEN
plant and equipment R E R — 10,000
— Net exchange differences — ERE=EFE 2,591 (4,872)
20,335 83,002
Changes in working capital EEERE
(excluding effects of translation adjustments) (T"EEEXRENTE
— Inventories —FE (18,957) (6,200)
— Trade and bill receivables — BHRWEREER 11,263 (22,752)
— Prepayments and deposits — ENFRERRS (2,227) (1,484)
— Trade and bill payables — BH5ENERANRER 45,449 (6,422)
— Accruals and other payables — EiaER
H b JE A 5K 1,842 20,805
— Deferred revenue — R A (75) 311
Cash generated from operations KREEXBEEZRS 57,630 66,638
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27 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 27 HMEBREREXRMT(E)

flows (Continued)

(b) In the statement of cash flows, proceeds from by REEREEAAN LHEVE BELR
disposal of property, plant and equipment (PR ONE R
comprise:
2018 2017
—E-NFE Z—ZT—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Net book value fRmEFE 3,453 7,353
Losses on disposals of property, plant and HEME BMELREZ
equipment (Note 6) 18 (Mt ate) (2,854) (4,569)

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and HEME - BFE L& #EZ

equipment FTig A 599 2,784
(c) Net cash reconciliation (o FRETHR
This section sets out an analysis of net cash and REH ) FRE D REREEEF
the movements in net cash for each of the years Re@-
presented.
2018 2017
—E-NFE ZZ—LF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FET
Net cash FRE
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEE 314,233 250,334
Borrowing and loans MERER
— repayable within one year — AR —FRNEE (139,674) (113,466)
Borrowing and loans MEREX
— repayable after one year — AR —ERER (110,369) (72,457)
64,190 64,411
Cash and cash equivalents RehkReEHE 314,233 250,334
Gross debt — fixed interest rates WER — B EFM R (18,745) (11,289)
Gross debt — variable interest rates RER — FBF X (231,298) (174,634)

Net cash FEE 64,190 64,411
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27 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 27 HMEBRERERMT(E)
flows (Continued)
(c) Net cash reconciliation (Continued) (c) BEESYR(GE)

Liabilities from

Other assets financing activities
Hit&EE METDREZRE
Borrowings Borrowings

and loans due and loans due

Cash within 1 year  after 1 year Total
AR—FRN AR-F#
HEZRE HEZRE

e REX REX FER-C)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET FET FET
Net cash as at 1st April, HRZZT—+F
2017 mMA—BZ

FRE 250,334 (113,466) (72,457) 64,411

Cash flows BeheE 48,707 (23,067) (37,912) (12,272)

Foreign exchange SIMEEE 3

adjustments 15,192 (3,141) — 12,051
Net cash as at 31st RZZE—NF
March, 2018 =A=+—

B2 %RE4 314,233 (139,674) (110,369) 64,190
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28 Commitment 28

(a)

(b)

Capital commitments
Capital expenditure of the Group at the end of
reporting period contracted but not yet incurred is

as follows:

Machinery B2

Computer system, equipment and renovation

FEETE

Construction in progress

Operating lease commitments
The Group had future aggregate minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases of

land and buildings, as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F T —+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Amounts payable E e

— within one year — —FUR 8,796 7,555

— later than one year but no later than — BB
five years BAEBRF 5,637 12,534
14,433 20,089
Generally, the Group’s operating leases are for AEENKEHEFH—RAE—EHNEF -

terms of 1 to 4 years.

A M BRRME

AIE
(@) BRKIE
AEBRBFEHERBETOEMERIA
ZERRAITMAT ¢
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T FHBT
2,601 4,896
B REE 2,399 3,679
23,898 —
28,898 8,575

159
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29

Banking facilities and pledge of assets

As at 31st March, 2018, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities of approximately HK$430,354,000 (2017:
HK$355,531,000) for overdrafts, loans, trade financing
and bank guarantees. Unused facilities as at the same
date amounted to approximately HK$146,848,000 (2017:
HK$161,821,000). These facilities were secured by:

(i) mortgages over the Group’s land and buildings
with a total net book value of approximately
HK$2,764,000 (2017: HK$2,889,000) (Note 15(c));

(i) floating charges over the Group’s inventories held
under trust receipts import bank loan arrangements
of approximately HK$7,595,000 (2017:
HK$8,501,000) (Note 18); and

(iii)  guarantees provided by the Company and certain

of its subsidiaries.

e M BRRME

29

RITEEEREEERN
RZZE—NFEZRA=+—HB AEHERHE
2EX BEF -BHBERBITERSERITE
B 42 ¥ #9430,354,000%8 L(= T — £ F:
355,531,000 7T) A [A B # KB A 2 RIT1E
B B #9146,848,0008 jL(= T — + F:
161,821,000/ 7T) ° W HRITEEB 2 EH W
T

(i) AEEB L REFIRE HAKREFE
492,764,000 (= T — 4+ F:
2,889,000/ 7T) (Mg 5E15(c) ) 5

(i) AEEREFEREEQRITERTHMR

BHZETFEHX7,5950008 0 (=%
— 4% 18,501,000 7T) (M 5£18) : &

(i) ARBRHEBETHERAMREZER -
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30 Related party transactions

30 BEALZRS

As at 31st March, 2018, Mr. Lam Kwong Yu beneficially RZZE-NF=ZRA=+—B MEMEEH
owned approximately 36.93% of the Company’s ordinary BARRAL36.93% EBKRMKMD - BRI L
shares. Ms. Yeung Chui beneficially owned approximately FERRAABN7 1% EBRAKG - AEE
17.11% of the Company’s ordinary shares. Both Mr. Lam REBRLT A RERAESE -

and Ms. Yeung are directors of the Company.

(@ In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the (@ BEBERUBHREREMIBOHI T A
consolidated financial statements, the following HEEALTETZIRS

transaction was carried out with related parties:

2018 2017
—E-NE ZZT—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FET

Operating lease rental expense KEHEHRESER
— Ms. Yeung Chui (Note (i)) — BR L+ (MFEG)) 79 76
Note (i): The Group entered into an operating lease agreement with MG AEBEGRL T ARRAZER FTER
Ms. Yeung Chui, a director of the Company. The transaction EHERSE LRRXHIHBR-—BEBER
was carried out in the usual course of business, and in AR R LB R E N T AT & 2 GFGETT ©

accordance with the terms of the contract entered into by

the Group and the related party.

(b) Key management compensation

Basic salaries, allowances and others

Discretionary bonus

Pension costs — defined contribution plans

by FTEEBAESMEEY

2018 2017

—E-N\F Tt F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FHET

EXEe  FMREM 10,120 9,851
BEREZIEL 706 1,992
BRIKKA — AEHRKEE 190 190

11,016 12,033
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31

Financial instruments by category

Financial assets

Loans and receivables:
Trade and bill receivables (Note 19)

Deposits

Long-term bank deposit

Bank deposits with maturity over 3 months from date
of deposits (Note 20)

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20)

Available-for-sale financial assets:
Listed equity securities (Note 17)

Unlisted insurance policy investment (Note 17)

Financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Trade and bill payables (Note 22)

Accruals and other payables

Borrowings (Note 21)

31 ¢RI BRERESD

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
SRMEE
ERREWRE:
ZHEWERREE
(F5E19) 238,326 244,125
b 13,872 10,875
RABITEFER 1,312 —
MR ARELA
—EAFHZERITER
(Fff 5£20) 15,165 14,106
R KB 2ZE(HE20) 314,233 250,334
582,908 519,440
AREESHEE !
W ERES (ME17) 1,890 1,723
FELEMZRBRENRE
(B 5E17) 12,800 8,913
14,690 10,636
597,598 530,076
sHmEeE
Hih e maERBSEMAE
EoRNERRER
(P 5£22) 184,612 131,338
e ERHAMaENR 69,138 70,915
& (FsE21) 250,043 185,923
503,793 388,176
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32

Statement of financial position and movement 32

of reserve of the Company

(@)

Statement of financial position of the

Company

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments in and amounts due from
subsidiaries

Current assets
Prepayments and deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to the owners of the
Company

Share capital

Reserves (Note 32(b))

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables
Current income tax liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

A M BRRME

(@ AR ZHBMRE

BE
ARRBEE
RIBRBZIRE R
& W2 R IR

RBEE
ANREBERERS
RekReEE

e
RAREBEAEMGES

(e
frt 188 (P 5E32(b) )

ERAE

a8

REBAE
EEtAEREMENRK
BIHmMEHRAR
JRE A1 BT /B8 2x B 3ROE

BEAR

BEREEARE

ARFZHMBRARERRFEEED

As at 31st March,

R=ZA=+—8H
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
225,905 225,922
225,905 225,922
973 1,030
820 1,082
1,793 2,112
227,698 228,034
52,514 52,514
149,523 148,516
202,037 201,030
1,817 1,784
18 —
23,826 25,220
25,661 27,004
227,698 228,034
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 Statement of financial position and movement
of reserve of the Company (Continued)

(b) Movement of reserve of the Company
The changes in the reserves of the Company during
the years ended 31st March, 2018 and 2017 are as

follows:

As at Tst April, 2016 RZT—RF
mA—H

Profit for the year F R A

Dividends paid ERRE

As at 31st March, 2017 R-ZE—+tF
=A=+—8H

As at 1st April, 2017 RZTB—+F
mA—H

Profit for the year F N4 A

As at 31st March, 2018 R-ZZFE—N\F
ZR=+—8

e M BRRME

32 ARAFRZHMBRRARRFERES (F)

by ERAZzHEERS
ARBIRZE—NF=ZA=+—HRZ
Tt FREEEHOT

Share Capital Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
BRpEE BEXRRFRE KREEFA B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR THET TET TR
127,796 520 30,326 158,642
— — 3,002 3,002
— — (13,128) (13,128)
127,796 520 20,200 148,516
127,796 520 20,200 148,516
— — 1,007 1,007
127,796 520 21,207 149,523
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